
 

  

   

 

  

 

 
 

The Mission of the Santa Cruz County Parks, Open Space and Cultural Services is to provide safe, well designed 
and maintained parks and a wide variety of recreational and cultural opportunities for our diverse community 

County  of  Santa  Cruz 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS, OPEN SPACE & CULTURAL SERVICES   
 

979 17TH AVENUE, SANTA CRUZ, CA  95062 

(831) 454-7901     FAX: (831) 454-7940     TDD: (831) 454-7978 

         JEFF GAFFNEY 
   DIRECTOR  

PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION AGENDA 

 ______________________________________________________________________________ 
 Monday, August 6, 2018          Pajaro Valley Community Health Trust 
 7:00pm – 9:00pm                 85 Nielson Street 
 Regular Meeting                  Watsonville, CA 95076 
  

I. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL 
 

II. AGENDA MODIFICATIONS OR LATE ADDITIONS 
 

III. CONSENT AGENDA (Action) 
 
 A. Approve minutes from June 4, 2018... ................................................ ..Pages 2-3 

B. Consider Reports: 
1. Maintenance Section – Status Report ………………………………....Pages 4-5 
2. Planning Section – Status Report……………………………………….Pages 6-7 
3. Aquatics Section – Status Report……………………………………….Pages 8-10 
4. Recreation Section – Status Report…………………………………….Pages 11-13 
5. Volunteer Program – Status Report………………………………...…..Pages 14-17 

 
IV. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

Opportunity for persons to address the Commission on matters which are within the scope of 
responsibility of the Commission but not on today’s agenda. Presentations must not exceed three 
(3) minutes in length, and individuals may speak only once during Oral Communications. 

 
V. COMMISSIONER REPORTS 

 
VI. DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

 
VII. REGULAR AGENDA – Informational Items 

a. Status report from John Skinner regarding the Pajaro Valley Sports Foundation 
b. Status report from Dave Kegebein regarding the Santa Cruz County Fairgrounds 

 
VIII. REGULAR AGENDA – Action Items 

a. Accept and file the Parks Department Strategic Plan  
b. Provide recommendation on development of an interim bike pump track at The Farm Park 

 
IX. WRITTEN CORRESPONDENCE LISTING (Page 47) 

 
X. ADJOURNMENT  

1



 

  

   

 

  

 

 
 

 
The Mission of the Santa Cruz County Parks, Open Space and Cultural Services is to provide safe, well designed 

and maintained parks and a wide variety of recreational and cultural opportunities for our diverse community 

County  of  Santa  Cruz 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS, OPEN SPACE & CULTURAL SERVICES   
 

979 17TH AVENUE, SANTA CRUZ, CA  95062 

(831) 454-7901     FAX: (831) 454-7940     TDD: (831) 454-7978 

    JEFF GAFFNEY 
   DIRECTOR 

 
    

PARKS & RECREATION COMMISSION 
Minutes of June 4, 2018, 7:00 p.m. meeting 

15685 Forest Hill Drive 
Boulder Creek, CA 95006   

 
I. ROLL CALL 
 Present:   Steven Bennett, Jim Rapoza, Mariah Roberts, Kate Minott 
 Staff:   Jeff Gaffney, Jennifer Mead 

 
II. AGENDA MODIFICATIONS (none) 

III. CONSENT AGENDA 

Approved minutes from April 2, 2018. (Roberts/ Rapoza 4/0) 
Accept and file items and reports. (Rapoza/ Minott 4/0) 
 

IV. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS (none) 

V.  COMMISSIONER REPORTS 

• Roberts – First successful movie night at Heart of Soquel on May 17th – this series of movies in 
the parks is a great way to engage people in the community. 

• Roberts – People in the 2nd District are happy! The Rio Del Mar Homeowner’s Association has 
committed funds to update the playground equipment at Hidden Beach Park. We also have an 
anonymous donor in Seascape who will commit fund toward the project. 

• Rapoza – I want to extend a big thank you to the volunteers who helped at Felton Library. Also a 
big thank you to Will for the getting the grant for the Discovery Park. We have a public meeting 
come up for the library and park. The Taco Tuesday at the Felton Covered Bridge was a big hit – 
there were so many people in the park! 

• Bennett – great meeting with Pajaro Valley Sports Foundation. Jeff and I got together with the 
Rotary, and Dave Kegebein at the Fairgrounds to discuss the land near the Fairgrounds. There’s 
about 30+ acres out there, we’d like to see what we can do with them. 

 

VI. DIRECTOR’S REPORT – Director Jeff Gaffney gave his report to the Commission. 

• Jennifer Mead is back working as Secretary. Lynna Hemeryck is still working in the department 

for recreation programs and will be with us through first week of August. 

• Artist of the Year event was fantastic, another great performance, several people attended. 

• July is Parks and Recreation Month! We have three big events during the month: Friday Night 

Recess, July 6; Movie Night at Highlands, July 13; and Family Fun Day, July 28. 

• Budget is coming up, we are doing some staff restructuring to create more Maintenance Worker 

positions.  

• Gretchen Iliff is retiring soon – we are trying to convince her to stay! 

2



Parks and Recreation Commission 
Minutes of June 4, 2018 
  

 

• We just went to the Board for a Request to Advertise for Pinto Lake Pump Track. Should have a 

contract in place by September and finish construction in October. 

o There was an attempted kidnapping at Pinto Lake in broad daylight right near the future 

pump track sight. Having the pump track will bring more people into the park and deter 

criminal activity. 

• There is a new concessionaire at Rio Del Mar Esplanade – it is a stand up paddle board shack 

and snack bar. 

• Working on an Encroachment policy with a fee structure that will go to the Board on June 12. 

• Will Fourt got another grant for the Pinto Lake Pump Track through PeopleForBikes organization. 

 

VII. REGULAR AGENDA – Information Items 

a. Board of Director’s Member Tess Fitzgerald provided a report on the Boulder Creek Recreation 
& Park District 

b. Director Jeff Gaffney gave an overview of the County Parks Fiscal Year 2018-2019 Proposed 
Budget  

 
VIII. REGULAR AGENDA – Action Items 

a. Teresa Corwin, Mariah Roberts and Tricia Potts were nominated to the Friends of Santa Cruz 
County Parks Board of Directors (Minott/Rapoza 4/0) 

 

IX. ADJOURNMENT – Meeting adjourned at 8:42 p.m. (Minott/Roberts 4/0) 

3



 

  

   

 

  

 

 
 

The Mission of the Santa Cruz County Department of Parks, Open Space and Cultural Services is to provide safe, well designed 
and maintained parks and a wide variety of recreational and cultural opportunities for our diverse community 

County  of  Santa  Cruz 
 

 

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS, OPEN SPACE & CULTURAL SERVICES 
 

979 17TH AVENUE, SANTA CRUZ, CA  95062 

(831) 454-7901     FAX: (831) 454-7940     TDD: (831) 454-7978 

    
   JEFF GAFFNEY 

   DIRECTOR 

 
  

 
Date:  August 1, 2018 
 
To:   Parks and Recreation Commission 
 
From:  Eric Sturm and Gretchen Iliff, Park Superintendents 
 
Subject: Maintenance Section Status Report 
 

MAINTENANCE OPERATIONS 

• Has been a somewhat arduous summer working short-staffed.  Soon to change with hiring of 
2 new Maintenance Worker-I’s.  Yay!! 

• New John Deer turf mower arrived for use.  A much-needed asset. 

• New fiscal year started, which means getting to commence on a few deferred maintenance 
items; such as new roofs on a few public restrooms, and installation of ADA porta-pottie at 
Hidden Beach, etc. 

 

North Section: Scott Creek Beach, Greyhound Rock, Davenport Landing, Bonny Doon, Highlands, Ben 
Lomond, Wilder Hall, Miller Property, Pace Property, Felton Library, Quail Hollow, Felton Covered Bridge, 
Michael Gray Field, Emeline Complex, Government Center, Anna Jean Cummings, Twin Lakes, 
Chanticleer, Brommer, Felt, Floral, Jose Avenue, Winkle, Moran Lake, SC Gardens, Hook, Pleasure 
Point, and Live Oak area beach accesses (Geoffrey Lane, 12th, 13th, 20th, 21st, 26th, 35th, 38th, 41st) 

• New rubber decking installed on Jose park pedestrian bridge. 
 

• Multiple graffiti tags removed at Jose park 
 

• Rocks placed at entrance Scott Creek beach bluffs area to stop cars from illegal camping 
and harm to habitat.   Seems to be working.  Pedestrian use not restricted. 

 

• New fence installed at Ben Lomond park by river for visitor safety. 
 

• Illegal dirt bike activity still seen at Miller Property, causing habitat damage. Working with 
volunteers and S.O. to curb activity. 

 

• Several meetings with public and stakeholders to discuss and plan Felton Library park; on-
going… 

 

• New backflow irrigation device and piping installed at Juvenile Hall (in preparation for their 
new gymnasium). 

 

• Still trapping bees and removing from Quail Ranch house.  Relocating bees to new hives. 
 

• Caught 112 gophers in three days at Anna Jean Cummings park!!  Recent warm weather 
and yummy grass for munching make more work for maintenance crew!   

 

• Twin Lakes Beachfront coming over to park maintenance.  Ribbon-cutting was held 7/27/18. 

4



• Significant irrigation leaks repaired at Brommer and Anna Jean parks.   
 

• Worked with neighbor at Quail Hollow Ranch to resolve a park trespass issue.  
 

• Removed three picnic tables at Moran Lake park at S.O. request.   
 

• Finished annual mowing of tall grass at Waugh Ave. 
 

South Section: Coffee Lane, Soquel Lions, Heart of Soquel, The Farm, Richard Vessy, Willowbrook, 
Carmichael Trail, Polo Grounds, Valencia Hall, Hidden Beach, Seascape, Seacliff Neighborhood Park, 
Place de Mer, Aptos Village, Scott Park, Scott Estate, Aldridge Lane, Mesa Village, Pinto Lake, Freedom 
Annex, and South-County area beach accesses (Beer Can Beach, Dolphin-Sumner, Via Palo Alto, Via 
Trinita) 

• Staff helped prep Special Events including: Summer Soul Festival at Pinto Lake; July 4th 
festivities in Aptos Village Park; Friday Night Recess downtown SC; and multiple movie 
nights at the Heart of Soquel Plaza and Aptos Village Park. 
 

• Staff completed mid-summer fertilizing and aerating on Polo and Pinto turf fields. 
 

• Assisted the S.O. at Roundtree Rehabilitation for its grand opening in May.  Lots of high-
weed mowing, weed whipping, and general site clean-up. 

 

• Cleared brush and weeds at multiple parks for summer fire threat suppression. Late rains 
made for happy weeds requiring multiple mowings. 

 

• Staff received training in use of Mirimichi Green; an approved general-use organic herbicide 
for broad leaf weed control.  Will use as a selective tool in managing weeds. 

 

•  Applied for grant to help with costs of new playground equipment at Hidden Beach park. 
 

Veterans Memorial Building 

• Former building manager Julia McDermott who gave a much-needed boost to the 
organization and has since left employment on July 1st.  Interim manager Rex Niduaza will 
be steering the ship for the time being. 
 

• Homeless still live in and around the Vets building literally; daily housekeeping still an on-
going need. 

 

• Looking at possibly getting new some new carpet donated. Will be eagerly accepted! 
Vets Board buying new chairs for auditorium.   
 

• “Best of the West” wrestling coming to vets Hall.  Get your tickets now!! 
 

Simpkins Family Swim Center 

• Put up more summer shade for children by deep end of pool. 
 

• Chlorine generator has been taking unapproved holidays.  Technicians coming to reinforce 
need for working summer months.  
 

• Capstone co-generators have been off-line for two months.  Contracted service provider 
experiencing internal corporate challenges. 
 

• Started capital process to identify specs and bids for new boiler on big pool.   

 

5



 

  

   

 

  

 

 
 

The Mission of the Santa Cruz County Department of Parks, Open Space and Cultural Services is to provide safe, well designed 
and maintained parks and a wide variety of recreational and cultural opportunities for our diverse community 

County  of  Santa  Cruz 
 

 

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS, OPEN SPACE & CULTURAL SERVICES 
 

979 17TH AVENUE, SANTA CRUZ, CA  95062 

(831) 454-7901     FAX: (831) 454-7940     TDD: (831) 454-7978 

    JEFF GAFFNEY 
DIRECTOR 

 

  

 
Date:  August 1, 2018 
 
To:   Parks and Recreation Commission 

 
From:  Sheryl Bailey & Will Fourt, Planning Section 
 
Subject: Planning Section Status Report  
 
 

County Wide Projects 

 
County Parks Strategic Plan 
The Department has revised and posted the final County Parks Strategic Plan based on input 
from the community and the County Administrative Office on the public review draft. 
 
 

North Section: (Highlands, Ben Lomond, Felton Covered Bridge, Probation, Michael Gray Field, Quail 
Hollow Ranch, the North Coast, AJC, Government Center, Emeline Complex, Twin Lakes, Brommer, 
Felt, Floral, Jose Avenue, Winkle Farm, Twin Lakes Beachfront) 

 
Quail Hollow/Pace Property Trail Planning 
The Habitat Conservation Fund grant application for trail construction to the Pace Property was 
not awarded. Staff is working with partners to find funding and to consider a phased approach to 
trail development. 
 
Quail Hollow Brook Restoration Grant 
Planning staff is currently conducting research on the different components involved in 
developing, manufacturing and installing encaging and durable interpretive signage. The initial 
purpose of this research is to develop a Request for Proposal to include graphic design, 
interpretive language, technical material specifications for signage posts and sign 
manufacturing, and professional qualifications for graphic interpretive artists & photographers. 
The final goal will be to install three grant funded interpretive signs along the west side of the 
Discovery Loop Trail adjacent to Quail Hollow Brook. 
 
Felton Library 
The Department held a community meeting on June 14th to get community input, and has held 
two stakeholder meetings about the project. Staff has been working with consultants on the 
design development. The CCC were awarded an $87,000 Active Transportation Program grant 
for construction of the pathway portion of this project. 
 
Scott Creek Beach Park 
Planning staff is working with the Scott Creek Technical Advisory Committee on concepts for 
Scott Creek lagoon restoration and Highway 1 bridge replacement, and how the project will 
benefit the environment, public coastal access onto the County’s Scott Creek Beach Park and 
public infrastructure improvements. 

6



Chanticleer Park: The Santa Cruz Playground Project has continued their fundraising efforts. 
Staff submitted the building permit application to the Building Department for review. The Prop 1 
Coastal Conservancy grant for groundwater recharge in the park was not awarded. Staff is 
working with partners to submit a grant for the groundwater recharge system to the National 
Recreation and Parks Associate grant program. 
 
Twin Lakes Beachfront-  On July 27th, 2018, a well-attended Ribbon Cutting Ceremony 
occurred with special guest speakers, California Secretary for Natural Resources John Laird, 
County Supervisor Ryan Coonerty and Former County Supervisor Neal Coonerty. Parks 
Planning Staff participated in the celebration, as Parks Planning staff was instrumental in the 
success of the project, with 5 years dedicated to the project management stages of Design 
Development, County Planning and State Coastal Permits and other State Agency permit 
coordination, acquiring over $500,000 of grants, property acquisition negotiations and 
preparation of construction documents under the umbrella of the combined Departments of 
Public Works and Parks.  The project includes a large iron pelican in flight as its public art 
component that was coordinated under the direction of the Parks Department. Parks 
Maintenance staff will begin maintaining the parkway soon.  
 
 

South Section: (Coffee Lane, Soquel Lions, Willowbrook Lane, Moran Lake, Richard Vessy, Santa Cruz 
Gardens, Heart of Soquel Plaza, The Farm, Polo Grounds, Valencia Hall, Hidden Beach, Seascape, 
Aptos Village, South County Beach access areas, Scott Park, Scott Estate, Aldridge Lane, Mesa Village, 
Pinto Lake, Seacliff Village Park, Freedom Government Annex) 

 
 
Heart of Soquel Phase 2 & 3 
On July 18, 2018, the Soquel Elementary School District Board of Trustees, at a public hearing, 
approved of the Parks Department’s purchase of a trail and riparian easement for the portion of 
the Soquel Creek Linear Parkway.  Parks Planning Staff and the Chief of Real Property 
completed three acquisitions to allow the completion of the Parkway.  The July 18th approval 
represents the last portion that needed to be purchased to complete the Soquel Creek Linear 
Parkway that will run along the western bank of Soquel Creek adjacent to the Soquel 
Elementary School from the “Discovery School” to the pedestrian bridge on Main Street.  The 
Departments of Parks and Public Works will bring a joint board letter to the Board for their 
approval of this purchase on August 7, 2018. 
 
Phase 2 and 3 of the Soquel Creek Linear Parkway have been awarded a grant from the CCC 
ATP funds in the amount of $174,000 for materials and labor with the labor to be provided by 
the CCC.  The source of these grant funds is the State of CA and cannot be used as a match for 
other State grants.  On July 23, 2018, Planning & Fiscal Administrative staff attended a Habitat 
Conservation Grant Fund (HCF) workshop provided by the State Parks Department to discuss 
project specific components for the upcoming HCF grant due October 1, 2018. Parks staff 
learned that this project remains highly competitive for this grant.  The amount available for the 
grant match will be a determining factor as to whether both phases will be included in the grant 
application or not. 
 
On July 20th, 2018, “A Walking Tour of the Heart of Soquel Park Plaza” was provided by Parks 
Planning Staff. Participants learned about Best Management Practices and Low Impact 
Development Design practices incorporated into the park’s design, including pervious surfaces, 
bioswales, rain gardens, and drought tolerant native plants.  Participants also learned of the 
upcoming Soquel Linear Parkway and were enthusiastic about that project’s trail and riparian 
restoration.  
 
 
 
 
 
 7



Farm Phase 2 
Currently, Planning staff is developing scopes of work to have updated reports prepared for the 
existing traffic and parking and drainage studies to evaluate the impacts of the proposed 
temporary and interim bike pump track.  These studies are required by the Planning 
Department, as a part of the development permit process.  Also, on July 23, 2018, Planning & 
Fiscal Administrative staff attended a Habitat Conservation Grant Fund (HCF) workshop 
provided by the State Parks Department to discuss project specific components for the 
upcoming HCF grant due October 1, 2018. At the workshop, staff learned that the proposed trail 
will not be highly competitive, as it is currently envisioned but with some minor changes to the 
design it can be made more competitive. 
 
Hidden Beach 
Park Planning and Maintenance were not awarded the “Let’s Play Grant” for $50,000.  However, 
staff is working with Kompan to explore other playground options.  
 
Pinto Lake 
Environmental Planning approved the grading permit for the project. The Parks Director has 
awarded a contract with the low bidder for site preparation. The Parks Department was awarded 
a $10,000 grant from the PeopleForBikes program for this project. The contractor will begin 
construction in August. 

8



 

  

   

 

  

 

 

 
  

 
The Mission of the Santa Cruz County Department of Parks, Open Space and Cultural Services is to provide safe, well designed 

and maintained parks and a wide variety of recreational and cultural opportunities for our diverse community 

County of Santa Cruz 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS, OPEN SPACE & CULTURAL SERVICES 
 

979 17TH AVENUE, SANTA CRUZ, CA  95062 

(831) 454-7901     FAX: (831) 454-7940     TDD: (831) 454-7978 

    

  
JEFF GAFFNEY 

   DIRECTOR 

 

 

Date:   August 1, 2018 
 
To:  Parks and Recreation Commission 
 
From:  Rebecca Hurley, Aquatics Supervisor   
 
Subject: Aquatics Division Status Report 
 
 

AQUATIC PROGRAMS 

 

Summer  
June 9 – August 19, 2018 

 
Lap Pool hours:      
Mondays through Friday from 6:00 am to 7:30 pm.  
Saturday and Sunday from 9:00 am to 4:00 pm  
 
Warm-water Pool: 
The warm-water pool is available for general use on: 
 
Monday – Friday    6:00 – 9:00 am and 1:00 – 3:30 pm (Rec. Swim) 
 
     
Saturday and Sunday  9:00 am - 10:30 am (adults only) 
     10:30 am – 12:30 pm (adults & kids 6 years and younger) 
     1:00 – 4:00 pm (Recreation Swim ~ all ages) 
 
Recreation Swim – This includes the Warm Water Pool, splash ZONE, the shallow 
area of the 50M pool, the slide, climbing wall, and on Fridays and Saturdays the WIBIT 
(Floating play apparatus) 
 
Summer Swim Lessons – Summer swimming lessons began on June 11th.  Group and 
private lessons are available Monday thru Friday evening, Monday/Wednesday/Friday 
evening, Tuesday thru Friday morning and Tuesday/Thursday morning. Lessons are 
also offered on Saturdays! Lessons have been very popular this summer with almost 
every class at capacity for the first four summer sessions. Summer lessons continue 
until 8/17 and then will transition to the fall schedule.   

 

9



 

 

 
Pool Junior Lifeguard Program – The pool Junior Guard Program remains very 
popular and has been full all summer with a total of 358 children for Junior Guards and 
149 children for Little Guards!  
 
The Little Guard program is designed for children ages 5 and 6. They spend the day at 
the pool and do a variety of activities with emphasis on improving their swimming ability, 
and safety awareness. The little guards get to participate in a variety of activities 
including: stand up paddle boarding, kayaking, and fitness-based games. They also get 
to experience sitting in a lifeguard chair, the buoyancy of a lifeguard tube, and they 
practice performing reaching assists. The little guards also enjoy a day on the beach 
with the big Junior Guards and have their own special field trip to the Central Fire 
Station where they get to hold the fire hose as a firefighter sprays water or attend a 
presentation from a State Parks Lifeguard who brings the rescue truck and jet ski for the 
children to climb on.  
 
The Junior Lifeguard program continues to be an incredible experience for children 
ages 7-13. This program gives children an insight into the fun and rewarding job of 
protecting and saving lives at the pool. The program strengthens their swimming ability 
and confidence in and around the water and introduces them to lifeguard rescue skills. 
Participants also enjoy special activities such as: kayaking, stand up paddle boarding, 
CPR demonstrations, climbing wall and slide time, a day at the beach, and a field trip to 
Golfland in San Jose. 
 
Junior Lifeguard Volunteers – Our Junior Lifeguard volunteer program continues to 
be successful and rewarding for young adults ages 13 – 15. The program encourages 
past participants that have reached the age of 13 to volunteer their time helping with the 
younger children in the program and assisting the leaders. The volunteers allow the 
program to offer more hands-on teaching and assist the leaders in their daily tasks.  The 
volunteers learn a new level of responsibility, and it gives them a closer look at what 
being a lifeguard at Simpkins Family Swim Center is all about. Not only do volunteers 
benefit personally, but the junior guard program benefits as well, as we are able to 
improve the quality of the program without adding staffing costs.  
 
 
Adult Fitness Swimming – Adult Fitness Swimming is very popular at the Simpkins 
Family Swim Center. Fitness swimmers may choose from several different workout 
times: Mondays at 6:00 am; Tuesday, Thursday & Friday at 6:00 am and 12:00 pm; 
Wednesdays at 6:00 am, 12:00 pm and 6:00 pm; and Saturday & Sunday workouts at 
9:00 am. 
 
In addition to our regular Adult Fitness program, this year we added an Introduction to 
Lap Swimming class which, this summer, is offer on Saturdays 10:30 am – 11:30 am. 
 
Water Aerobics & Exercise – The water exercise classes this year continue to reach 
their highest capacity to date. Water exercise is an excellent way for people to meet 
their fitness goals without impact on the joints. Classes are designed to appeal to all 
levels of ability including, healthy, pre-natal, seniors, and rehabilitating or cross training 
fitness enthusiasts. A monthly calendar is available with dates, times and instructor’s 

10



 

 

names. Previous swimming or water-exercise experience is not required for 
participation in any of the water exercise classes. 
 
 
 
Child Care – The drop-in child care program has now been open for a year!  Due to 
patron requests, we have added new hours on Sundays for the summer season. The 
program is open to children 6 months and up and costs $5 per child for up to two hours. 
It is staffed by both aquatics and recreation staff members.   
 
Current hours are: 
9:00 AM – 1:30 PM Tuesday and Thursday 
9:00 AM – 12:00 PM Saturday and Sunday 
 
Water Polo – Sundays from 10:30 am - 12:30 pm. Participants must be a member of 
USAWPA to participate in the program. 
 
Lifeguard Training Exercises – During the summer months lifeguards are required to 
attend weekly trainings to practice skills and participate in educational sessions. So far 
this summer staff has covered such topics as: 
 
Victim Recognition 
Full facility EAP (Emergency Action Plan) scenario practices 
CPR and First Aid skills 
Swim Lesson Instructor refreshers 
Spinal injury management skill practice 
 
 
 
Special Events at the pool:  
 
As part of the July is Parks and Recreation Month we added new and continued to offer 
the following free events” 
 
On July 4th we held our annual FREE SWIM which is co-sponsored by the Simpkins 
Family! Over 400 people enjoyed the pools, slide, and climbing walls! 
 
On July 20th we had our first annual Teen Splash Night with recreation style swim just 
for teens ages 13 – 19 and free entry!    
 
On Saturday July 28 the first annual Family Fun Day – Get Your Play On event will be 
held at the Simpkins Family Swim Center, Shoreline Middle School and the Live Oak 
Boys and Girls Club.  Inflatables, oversized games, music and free recreation swim at 
the swim center will all be available from 3-7pm. 
 
As well as the free events in July, we will continue to host the 4th annual Parks and Rex 
event at the Simpkins Family Swim Center on August 25th from 12-4 pm. Join the Santa 
Cruz County Animal Shelter and the Santa Cruz County Parks Department for this fun 

11



 

 

and festive special day. This special event is a fundraiser for County youth recreation 
programs and animal shelter.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Pool Rentals: 
  
Swim Teams – Aptos Cabrillo Swim Club and Quicksilver Swimming swim teams 
continue to rent lanes in the 50-meter pool. The swim teams offer school-age 
competitive swimming programs Monday through Friday from 4:00 to 7:30 p.m. 
 
Pool Therapy – Dominican will continue to use the warm water pool for their therapy 
classes in the fall, reserving the pool space from 9:45 – 2pm on Monday and Fridays 
and 10:30am – 3pm on Wednesdays. 
 
Private Pool Parties – Private Pool Parties are available on Saturdays & Sundays. A 
variety of aspects of the facility may be rented for Private Pool Parties, from just the 
warm pool to aspects accommodating up to 110 people.  Private Pool Parties are 
scheduled on weekends, spring, summer and fall, after the facility has closed to the 
public. 
 
 
New for Fall: 
 
Water Polo - We are excited to announce that we are working with both Harbor Hight 
Water Polo teams and Soquel High Water Polo teams to provide pool space for them 
during the fall water polo season.  Harbor High does not have a regulation sized pool 
and have not been able to host “home” games until this season when their “home” 
games will be played at Simpkins Swim Center!  Soquel High is currently renovation 
their pool so when Harbor High is not hosting a game at Simpkins, Soquel High will use 
our pool for their practices, two-week nights and Saturday afternoons. 
 
Fall Extended Schedule – With water polo taking up ½ of the pool two-week nights a 
week and one weekend afternoon, we are extending our weeknight open time from 
7:30pm to 8:30pm M-F and will remain open until 4pm on Sundays through October.  
This will allow the current swim teams and lap swimmers to have the same number of 
available hours to them despite water polo teams using pool space this fall season. 
 
 
 
 

12



 

  

   

 

  

 

 
 

The Mission of the Santa Cruz County Parks, Open Space and Cultural Services is to provide safe, well designed 
and maintained parks and a wide variety of recreational and cultural opportunities for our diverse community 

County  of  Santa  Cruz 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS, OPEN SPACE & CULTURAL SERVICES   
 

979 17TH AVENUE, SANTA CRUZ, CA  95062 

(831) 454-7901     FAX: (831) 454-7940     TDD: (831) 454-7978 

         JEFF GAFFNEY 
   DIRECTOR 

 
 

 

 
Date:   August 1, 2018  
   
To:  Parks and Recreation Commission 
 
From:  Margaret Ingraham, Volunteer Program Coordinator 
 
Subject: Volunteer Program Status Report  
 

 
North County  
 
Quail Hollow Ranch  
One of our new volunteers at Quail Hollow Ranch is a beekeeper. He is volunteering his time to 
trap and remove a bee hive from the walls of the ranch house as well as he has placed bee 
hives in an appropriate location on the property to attract bees and collect honey. We also have  
plans for bee educational workshops with this volunteer.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

13



A great time was had by all at the Volunteer Appreciation Luncheon in June.   Approximately 30 
people came out to Quail Hollow Ranch and enjoyed the company, acknowledgements, and 
refreshments. We gave out 4 pins, marking hours volunteered milestones, and acknowledged 6 
other volunteers for hitting other significant marks in volunteer hours. Jeff Gaffney and 
Supervisor Bruce McPherson were both present and spoke to the group. During lunch, there 
were reports from the Trail, Nest Box, Broom, and the Master Gardner volunteers. The Friends 
of Quail Hollow non-profit co-sponsored the event and James Williams, President spoke on their 
behalf.  

 

In June and July, the Trail Crew Volunteers logged approximately 40 hours of trail maintenance  
to keep the trails accessible and in good shape for hikers and equestrians.  
The Broom Bash volunteers are done pulling the invasive French Broom for the season, and in 
June and July they logged approximately 70 hours.   
 
The Santa Cruz Astronomy Club provided FREE Star Gazing experiences at Quail Hollow 
Ranch in June and July. The club provides at least 3 volunteers who bring their telescopes and 
educate the community. During the June experience over 25 community members were in 
attendance.    
 
The Bird Nest Box Volunteers are at the end of the season and in June and July volunteered 
approximately 60 hours monitoring the nest boxes and documenting the bird activity. The group 
will continue to log a few more hours as they will bring the nest boxes in for the season.    
 
Miller Property 
The Miller Property volunteers have noticed an increase in motorcycle use, causing increased 
habitat damage. Efforts are being made to confirm property lines so that appropriate signage 
can be installed in a continued effort to stop the damaging effects. The volunteers have logged 
approximately 40 hours in June and July repairing trail damage, picking up trash, and removing 
French Broom.  
 
 
 
 

14



 
Anna Jean Cummings Park  
Two volunteers continue to assist with efforts to clean up abandoned homeless camps, and 
trash collection, they logged over 35 hours in June and July. We have a new volunteer at AJ 
who will be volunteering her time to help keep the picnic gazebos free of staples and other 
decorations that are left behind.  
 
Over 100 children and chaperones from a summer camp volunteered their time at Anna Jean 
Park. They split into groups and picked up trash, removed staples, weeded, and cleaned the 
playground equipment. Thank you Parks staff for leading and supporting the different groups.     
 
Simpkins Family Swim Center/Family Fun Day 
Aquatics Supervisor, Rebecca Hurley recruited over 20 water polo players and their parents 
from the Harbor High, and Soquel High teams to volunteer for our Family Fun Day event. They 
helped to monitor parking, assist with the inflatable play structures, help set up booths, and 
assisted at the information tables.  
 
Also volunteering for the Family Fun Day were some of the Junior Recreation Volunteers, and a 
member from the public. All the volunteers for this event were appreciated immensely!  
 
Junior Volunteers  
Junior Lifeguard Volunteers have been volunteering in the Junior Lifeguard program at the swim 
center all summer long and have logged over 600 hours thus far. Thank you Rebecca Hurley 
and Aquatics staff for supervising these volunteers!  
 
Recreation 
Junior Volunteers have also been volunteering at the summer recreation programs this summer 
and have logged over 800 hours. Thank you Oscar Arroyo for supervising all of these Junior 
Volunteers!  

 
 

South County  
 
Polo Grounds Park  
We have one active volunteer at the dog park who has been helping to maintain the dog park 
area. He has helped to keep the foxtails to a minimum.   
 
Pinto Lake Park  
Pinto Lake volunteers have logged over 30 hours in June and July in Disc Golf Course 
maintenance and some graffiti abatement.   
 
Aptos Village Park 
A Youth Serve group volunteered their time to paint the wedding gazebo at the park. It was in 
need of a fresh look for the wedding season!  
 
The Farm Park 
Westlake Charter School from Sacramento bussed 80 middle school aged children and their 
chaperones to the Farm Park to volunteer their time.  
They volunteered their time to help maintain the health and survival rate of the native plants. 
They weeded, applied coconut mats, and mulched around approximately 200 plants. All the 
efforts combined totaled 150 hours.  
 

15



 
 

 

16



 

  

   

 

  

 

 
 

The Mission of the Santa Cruz County Parks, Open Space and Cultural Services is to provide safe, well designed 
and maintained parks and a wide variety of recreational and cultural opportunities for our diverse community 

County  of  Santa  Cruz 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS, OPEN SPACE & CULTURAL SERVICES   
 

979 17TH AVENUE, SANTA CRUZ, CA  95062 

(831) 454-7901     FAX: (831) 454-7940     TDD: (831) 454-7978 

         JEFF GAFFNEY 
   DIRECTOR 

 
  

 

August 1, 2018 

Parks and Recreation Commission      
County of Santa Cruz 
979 17th Avenue 
Santa Cruz CA 95062 
 
SUBJECT: Final County Parks Strategic Plan 
 
Dear Commissioners, 
 
Since the last presentation to the Parks Commission in April 2018, the Department has 
received comments and feedback on the Draft Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan 
at a series of public meetings, through an online form, and from the County 
Administrative Office. Based on this feedback, staff has revised the Strategic Plan to 
better represent the vision of the community, and to maximize compatibility with the 
County Administrative Office’s new countywide Strategic Plan and related initiatives. 
This letter and attached materials provide an update and include the proposed final draft 
plan. 
 
Background 
Over the course of the last 18 months the Strategic Plan project team has completed an 
extensive public engagement process including eight community meetings, four Parks 
staff meetings, six Strategic Plan Working Group meetings, online surveys, and 
presentations at six Parks and Recreation Commission meetings. Based on the input of 
over 1,000 individuals staff has created and revised this Strategic Plan to reflect the 
collaborative vision, values, goals, objectives and strategies for the Department for the 
next ten years.  
 
Changes to the Public Review Draft 
Since the last presentation to the Parks and Recreation Commission in April 2018, and 
based on feedback received, staff has revised including the following most-notable 
changes to the Final County Parks Strategic Plan: 
 

1. Re-Organization: The plan has been re-organized into three sections, and the 
heart of the strategic plan content is in the first section for emphasis and clarity. 

2. Goals: The six goals in the Public Review Draft have been streamlined into four 
goals while retaining all the themes most important to the community.  Each goal 

17



 

 

has been expanded to provide meaning and begins with a short tagline to 
summarize the heart of the goal. 

3. ‘Core’ and ‘Stretch’ Objectives: The objectives in the Public Review Draft have 
been re-organized under the new goal structure and have also been categorized 
as either ‘core’ or ‘stretch’ objectives.  The distinction is based on several criteria, 
the most important of which may be that ‘core’ objectives are a continuation of 
how the Parks Department currently serves the community and ‘stretch’ 
objectives are those that require additional resources. Staff has sought to retain 
the meaning and content of the objectives from the Public Review Draft while 
revising into this new format. 

 
Next Steps: 
We look forward to future collaboration with the Parks Commission related to the 
County Parks Strategic Plan and our ongoing work to translate this plan into meaningful 
actions for results in this community. 
 
It is therefore recommended that the commission accept and file this report on the final 
Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan. 
 
 
Warm regards, 

 

Jeff Gaffney 
Director of Parks, Open Space & Cultural Services 

 

Attachments: 

1. Final Draft Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan 

2. Appendices   

18



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS
STRATEGIC PLAN

FINAL
AUGUST 6TH, 2018

19



20



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN iii

FORWARD

Dear Friends and Partners,
 

-

-

-

 

 

 
  
   
 
  
 
 

 

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS, OPEN SPACE & CULTURAL SERVICES   
 

979 17TH AVENUE, SANTA CRUZ, CA  95062 
(831) 454-7901     FAX: (831) 454-7940     TDD: (831) 454-7978 

         JEFF GAFFNEY 
   DIRECTOR   

21



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS -

Jim Rapoza

Jim Rapoza

22



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

VISION

VALUES

MISSION

GUIDING PRINCIPLES OF SERVICE

GOALS

A healthy and 
vibrant county where 
everyone is able to be 

diverse natural and cultural 

Well-Being • Stewardship • Equity

Stability for Long-Term 

STRONG ORGANIZATION
Maintain and 
Enhance the Quality

GREAT FACILITIES

Outstanding 
Visitor Experience

Cultural Programs to

AWESOME PROGRAMS

Strengthen and Engage Local 

Steward and Protect Open 
Spaces and  Natural, Cultural

EFFECTIVE STEWARDSHIP

and Historical Resources for the 
Enjoyment of Current and Future 

Strategic Plan Pyramid

23



24



SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

FIGURES

TABLE OF CONTENTS CHAPTERS

 ........................................................................................................ 1
.................................................................................. 5

 ...................................................................... 7
 ......................................................................................... 13

 ..................................................................... 19
 ..................................................................................... 27

 .................................................................................................... 31

 ............................................................................................... 33
 ......................................................................................................... 37

APPENDICES

TABLES

25



26



CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

WHY A STRATEGIC PLAN?

-

 1979 - 2002

 2002 - 2011 -

-

 2011 - 2014
-

-

CHAPTER 1:  
INTRODUCTION

-

-

A healthy and vibrant county where every-

and cultural resources are celebrated and 

PART I:
THE COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

27



HOW THE STRATEGIC PLAN WILL 
BE USED

-

-

 2014 - 2018 -

-

 Santa Cruz County 

-

-

-

-
-

Simpkins Family Swim Center in Live Oak

-

28



CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

The Parks Department is not the only County 
-
-

RELATIONSHIP TO THE 
COUNTYWIDE STRATEGIC PLAN 

-

-

 
The County Parks Department is not the only 

STRATEGIC PLAN VOCABULARY

Vision
-

why the department 

Values

-

Mission

Goals how

 

Strategies

29



30



CHAPTER 2: VISION, MISSION AND VALUES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

CHAPTER 2:  
VISION, MISSION  
AND VALUES

VISION
T

-

MISSION
The County Parks mis

-

A healthy and vibrant county where everyone is able to be 
OUR VISION:

OUR MISSION:

-

31



CHAPTER 2: VISION, MISSION AND VALUES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

GUIDING PRINCIPLES OF SERVICE

. 

-

Fiscally-Responsible

Results-focused

-

Aptos Village County Park

Parks Department Core Values

W
ELL-BEING

STEWARDSHIP

SERVICE

EQ
UITY

VALUES

Departm -

-

-

-

-

-

32



CHAPTER 3: GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

-
-

-

-

-

CHAPTER 3:  
GOALS, OBJECTIVES 
AND STRATEGIES

Goals

 

-

 

-

Strategies

33



CHAPTER 3: GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

PROVIDE RECREATIONAL AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS TO 
STRENGTHEN AND ENGAGE LOCAL COMMUNITIES

ENSURE ORGANIZATIONAL EFFECTIVENESS AND FISCAL 

STEWARD AND PROTECT OPEN SPACES AND NATURAL, 
CULTURAL AND HISTORICAL RESOURCES FOR THE ENJOYMENT 
OF CURRENT AND FUTURE GENERATIONS

-

needs
-

department

-

-

-

-

-

-
-

-

-

MAINTAIN AND ENHANCE THE QUALITY AND ACCESSIBILITY OF 
PARKS FACILITIES FOR OUTSTANDING VISITOR EXPERIENCE

34



CHAPTER 3: GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

CORE OBJECTIVES

-

the parks system

-

MAINTAIN AND ENHANCE THE QUALITY AND ACCESSIBILITY OF PARKS FACILITIES FOR OUTSTANDING 
VISITOR EXPERIENCE

-

-

STRETCH OBJECTIVES

-

35



CHAPTER 3: GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

-

-

-

CORE OBJECTIVES

department

-

BENEFIT

-

needed

STRETCH OBJECTIVES

-

36



CHAPTER 3: GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

STRETCH OBJECTIVES

areas

need

-

CORE OBJECTIVES

-

-

PROVIDE RECREATIONAL AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS TO STRENGTHEN AND ENGAGE LOCAL 
COMMUNITIES

37



CHAPTER 3: GOALS, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

-

STRETCH OBJECTIVES

-

-

-

CORE OBJECTIVES

-

RESOURCES

STEWARD AND PROTECT OPEN SPACES AND NATURAL, CULTURAL AND HISTORICAL RESOURCES FOR THE 
ENJOYMENT OF CURRENT AND FUTURE GENERATIONS

RESOURCES

system

parks system

-

38



CHAPTER 4: PLAN IMPLEMENTATION | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

DEPARTMENT STRATEGIC 
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM & 
OPERATIONAL PLANNING

THE STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

-

CHAPTER 4: 
PLAN  
IMPLEMENTATION

PL
AN

EVALUATE

IMPLEMENT &
MONITOR

ADJUST

1-YEAR CYCLE
Fiscal Year/Budget Cycle

COURSE SETTING
STRATEGIC PLAN

10-YEAR PLAN 

5-YEAR TECHNICAL UPDATE

-

39



 
 

 
 
 

Set Course Plan Implement 

& Monitor 
Evaluate Adjust 

 
 
 
 

SET STRATEGIC 
DIRECTION - 
STRATEGIC PLAN 

 
Every 10 years... 

 
Conduct Internal & 
External Assessments 

Engage Public & 
Solicit Input 

Engage County 
Leadership 

Determine Objectives 
& Strategies 

 
Every 5 Years... 

Review Strategic Plan 
Goals & Objectives 

Complete and Publish 
Technical Update 

 

ANNUAL OPERATIONS 
PLANNING 

Update Annually ... 
 

Capital Improvement 
Plan Updates 

Program Budgets & 
Funding Projections 

Update Actions for 
Each Section 

Solicit Public Input 

Establish Performance 
Metrics 

CHECK POINTS/ 
BENCHMARKS 

 
Track Performance 
Metrics Via... 

 
 

Summer Semi-Annual 
All- Hands Meeting 
(Fiscal Year  

R
Meetings 

Regular Section 
Reports 

Regular Email Updates 
 

PERFORMANCE 
REVIEWS (How are 
we doing?) 

 
Annual Review Cycle 
Via... 

 
Mid-Year All-Hands 
Meeting 

Semi-Annual Check In 
(by Section) 

Self-Assessment & 
Supervisors' Review 

ADAPTIVE 
MANAGEMENT (How 

will we do better?) 
 

Goals & Performance 
Measures 'Reset' via... 

 
Managers' & 
Supervisors' Meetings 

Report on Progress 
Toward Strategic Plan 
Goals 

Conduct Internal Scan 
& Adjust Priorities 

Adjust Operations Plan 
Accordingly 
 

STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT 

40



CHAPTER 4: PLAN IMPLEMENTATION | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

THE OPERATIONAL PLAN
-

-

 and -

-

CRITERIA FOR PRIORITIZING ACTIONS

-

-

 and 

Plan

Be readily , 

 and 

41



KEYS TO MAKING PROGRESS

FOCUSING

-

-

-

-

-

-

Mesa Village County Park

42



CHAPTER 4: PLAN IMPLEMENTATION | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

-

-

The County Parks Department is not the only 

-
-

-

-

AS NEEDED

-
-

-

43



-

44



CITY PARKS

-
-

INDEPENDENT RECREATION AND PARK 
DISTRICTS

-

OTHER PARKS AND OPEN SPACE AGENCIES 
& LANDHOLDERS

-

-

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY’S PARKS & 
OPEN SPACE NETWORK

-

-

-

COUNTY PARKS
-

-

-

CHAPTER 5:  
THE PARKS 
NETWORK AND 
SERVICES

PART II:  
THE COUNTY PARKS DEPARTMENT

45



CHAPTER 5: THE PARKS NETWORK AND SERVICES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

·|}þ1

·|}þ1

·|}þ152

·|}þ129

·|}þ9

·|}þ17

·|}þ236

·|}þ35

·|}þ9

City of 
Scotts Valley

City of 
Santa Cruz

City of 
Capitola

City of 
Watsonville

Corralitos
Aptos

Soquel

Live
Oak

Bonny
Doon

Davenport

Felton

Ben
Lomond

Boulder
Creek

t 0 51 2 3 4
Miles

Urban Services Boundary

Who Provides your Local Neighborhood Parks?
Unincorporated County: County Parks

Incorporated City: City Parks

Recreation and Park District: Other Parks

46



CHAPTER 5: THE PARKS NETWORK AND SERVICES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

·|}þ1

·|}þ1

·|}þ152

·|}þ129

·|}þ9

·|}þ17

·|}þ236

·|}þ35

·|}þ9

City of 
Santa Cruz

City of 
Capitola

City of 
Watsonville

The Forest of
Nisene Marks

State Park

Wilder
Ranch State

Park

Big Basin
Redwoods
State Park

Swanton
Pacific
Ranch

San Vicente
Redwoods
(CEMEX)

California Coastal
National

Monument

Castle Rock
State Park City

County

State

Federal

Special District

Non Profit

Private

Parks and Open Space Network
In Santa Cruz County
Protected Lands

(Source: California Protected Areas
Database, GreenInfo, 2017.)

Managing Entity:

t 0 51 2 3 4
Miles

47



CHAPTER 5: THE PARKS NETWORK AND SERVICES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

COUNTY PARKS SERVICES

-

-

Seascape County Park in Aptos

 

 
or rural parks

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 -

 

-
-

48



CHAPTER 5: THE PARKS NETWORK AND SERVICES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

The County Parks 
Department puts on 

-

-

-

-

Year, and Outside 

-

County Parks youth sum-

-

-

-

-

-
-

-

49



CHAPTER 5: THE PARKS NETWORK AND SERVICES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

Cruise

Jose Avenue County Park in Live Oak

DEPARTMENT STRUCTURE & 
STAFFING

ADMINISTRATION AND RESERVATIONS
-

-

-

-

AQUATICS

-

MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS

-
-

-

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT

-

-

-

-

-

RECREATION & CULTURAL SERVICES
-

50



CHAPTER 5: THE PARKS NETWORK AND SERVICES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

·|}þ1

·|}þ1

·|}þ152

·|}þ129

·|}þ9

·|}þ17

·|}þ236

·|}þ35

·|}þ9

City of 
Scotts Valley

City of 
Santa Cruz

City of 
Capitola

City of 
Watsonville

Corralitos

Aptos

Soquel

Live Oak

Bonny Doon

Davenport

Felton

Ben Lomond

Boulder Creek

G
ro

ss

Rd

B ear

Cr
eek

R
d

Hi llt
op

Rd

Grant St

Sudden St

D
ov

er
D

r

San Lorenzo Av

N
ew

el
lC

reek
Rd

Ti

nkers Tr

Cement Plant Rd

Alta Dr

Vis ta D
r

Canh am

Rd

Fa
ir

mo

unt Dr

Weston

Rd

Memor y
Ln

Hi gh
St

College Rd

Lo
ck

ew
ood

Ln

Ca
y u

g a
St

S a nd
Do

lla
r D

r

Ha
pp

y
Va

lle
y Rd

Hubbard Gulch Rd

W
ild

wood
Dr

Mattis on
Ln

Fr

onti erR
d

RodriguezSt

G
le

n
Ha ve

n
Rd

El
k 

S
t

Twin Ln

E
H

i lto n

Dr

Redwood Dr

Adams Rd

Kennedy

Dr

Ca br
ill

o
Av

Pineridge R
d

Whis p

e
rin

gPines Dr

Alice St

Park Av W

Mountain View Rd

Ryder Rd

W
est

D
r

Button St

M
a rk

Av

Gharkey St

Love
Creek Rd

B risa
Del M a

r

C
ad

i ll
a c

Dr

John St

38
th

 A
v

Q u ar

ry Rd

M
ay Av

R
ed

wo
od

D
r

La

Cuesta Dr

Encinal St

C
or

al
 S

t

Hill Av

F

ore st Dr

Rio Boca
Rd

Wallace Av

Azalea Av

Sa

ndhill

Rd

Hun
tingto n Dr

Su
ns

et
 L

n

N
ew

e ll D r

H
aa

s
D

r

C res c en
t

Dr

Lag unita Dr

2n
d St

R
oberts

Rd

O
hl on e

Pa rkway

Delta

W
y

BohnenR
d

Hug
hes Rd

Zils Rd

Sp
an

ish
R

an
ch

R

d

Flum
e

Rd

Olson
R

d

M
ar

ne
ll A

v

O
hlo

ne Tr

Vi
ne

H
ill

Ln

Mou nt Bache
R d

WillisR

d

Beel

D r

Palm Av

H er m an
Av

PineDr

6t
h 

A
v

Tuttle Av

M
ontcla irD

r

Co on Heig h ts Rd

Winkle
Av

R
id

gecrest D r

Ho
ove

r Rd

Alta
Vi a

Rd

Hu
tchinson

R
d

So

Nav
arr

a Dr

Jo
lo

n 
D

r

North St

Kearney St

Ponza
Ln

Radonic h
R

d
Mcquaide Dr

Hillcres t
Dr

La
Ci

m
a

Pa rkWy

36
th

 A
v

R
ed

wo
o d

D
r

34
th

 A
v

A ptos
Creek

R d
Maple Av

M
is

s i
o

n

D r

San Juan P as s

Grizzly

F latRd

A

uro ra
Rd

Trabing Rd

Paseo D
r

Lar sen

Rd

D ufo
ur

St

Old Summit Rd

Nova Dr

Webb Rd

Coast Rd

W
hit

ing

Rd

Ranport Rd

Cutter Dr

Ro
se

blo

om
Av

Sunli t Ln

Pi

ne co n
eD

r

F

ern
D

r

M
e ti ver 's

W
y

Tulsa Ln

Caudill R
d

Stanf ordWy

Oak

FlatRd

Mill Rd

Martin Rd

E
Bel Mar Dr

Ol d Alba Grad
e

Dair
y Rd

12
th

 A
v Linden

Rd

Fies ta W
y

R
ive

r da le Bl

La
el

 L
n

Dias Ln

Spring
H

ill s D
r

M
er k

R
d

Paulsen Rd

Pine
H

il l R
d

Alta Av

Lakewood
Rd

A l lredLn Skid Rd

M
ar

io
n

Av

Litchfi eld Ln

Mint o Rd
H

ac
ien

da

Ln

Dalton Ln

Glenwood Cutoff

De e rf
ie

ld

Rd

Du Four St

N i na Dr

Warnella
Rd

D
eer

C reekRd

Ramp

Dorran ceRd

H
ig

hg
at

e
R

d

Vi n
el

a
nd

Rd

Melody Ln

S

age Ln

Via

Vinca

Kin gham Ranc h Rd

Old
Big

Basin Rd

B

ye r s
Ln

Com
s

toc k Ln

Branci fo r te R idge

Robinwood
L n

Ste llar W
y

Kings Hy

Be
ar

V a
ll e

y
Rd

Wol v
e r

in
e

W
y

Jee pTr

M
ou

nt
ai

n
Cha

rl i
e

R
d

Pi k
e Rd

Broo
k

Ln

Bahr Dr

Rider Rd

Ben s Wy

Ker
r R

d

Ramp

Cro
wn 

Rd

Snyder D
r

L os
tValley

Ca
lle

Se
rra

Via R
a

ton

B ernitaDr

Wil low

Wy

Mc e ner yRd

G olf Club Dr

Niles Rd

Marty Rd

W
hipp et R

u
n

E denvale Ln

Lil ly W
y

Park

A v
N

Brook Rd

Craig's R d

Mo lina
Dr

Do
ns

Rd

D
af

fo
d i

lLn

Chandle r Ln

Shell Dr

Nica sio

W
y

H
uh

tal
a Ln

Big
Cre

ek
Rd

Pax P lace Ct

Orm
an

R
d

Scu
ric

h R
d

Lani Ln

Redwood
Rd

OldHazel Dell Rd

Thayer Rd

Silliman Rd

Ramp

F
o xglove Ln

M
ca

llis
te

r W
y

H arr is
Ln

Celeste
W

y

Green Oaks Way

Rusk Grade

H
a lton

Ln

Vi
sa

ta
r

St

Hidden Canyo
n

Whitehouse Creek Rd

Old Chittenden Rd

Telfor d Dr

Bac
k R

an
ch

 R
d

Sans

Rd

M aymens Flat Rd

Tie G
ulch

Rd

Po nd View Dr

Ramp

Los

A
rb

ol
es

Fallo
wfie

ldLn

Bella V

ista

Ln

Harmon
G

ulch
Rd

H ihn Hammond Rd

M
i ll

Cr
ee

k

Gazo
s Cree k R d

Charcoal Rd W est

He a

rtw
ood Hill

Ca

nyo nV

is
ta

Bark
R

d

B loo m Grade Rd

Peckh
am Rd

Gaffey

Rd

M
iddl e

E llenR
d

B ur
l R

d

Logan Creek Rd

Ol
d Kenville Rd

W

ood land

Ridg
e

Ber
ry Cree k

Hopkins
G

ul ch
R

d

Henry Cowe ll S ervice Rd

Be
rto

li D
r

Ro n
s Rd

Sunset
Rid

geR
d

Ormsby
Cutoff

Old Womens

Creek Rd

Hihns Sulphur Sp

rin
g

Rd

Penstock Tt

North

Skyview
Rd

Bloo g el l 's
R

d

Lit
tle

Basin Rd

Felt St

Blan
ca

 LnM
an

fre
R

d

C
ox

Rd

Rive r Rd

Mesa Dr

Araki Rd

Calabasas Rd

Hagar Dr

Hihn
R

d

Fri t ch
Rd

Northri dge Dr

Br
imblecom

R
d

O ld Pi lk
in

gt
o

n
R

d

Pi ne Av

H
el

le
r

Dr

Crest D
r

H
ollins

D
r

Fairw
ay Dr

Monroe Av

B ear CreekWy

N
el

so
n

R
d

Rebe cca
D

r

C ol eman
A

v

La keside Dr

S

ky l ark Ln

Rogers Av

Sherman D r

E
n

os

Ln

R
i v

er
D

r

Pa
rk

 W
y

3rd St

D

ove Ln

G
len

Ar bor Rd

W
est

Rd

Jarvi
s R

d

Riv

a RidgeRd

Tabor

Dr

Br
id

ge
 S

t

C
h in qu apin Rd

Farm Rd

Red Mountain

Quail Dr

G
us

he
e 

St

Bo
bc

at
Tr

H
ol

m
 R

d

Mill er H

ill Rd

Ridge
Rd

Fo
rd

 S
t

Ross Av

O a

kCreek

Bl

Hidd
en

F all s

Tr

Am igo
Rd

Exit R
d

9t
h 

A
v

S kyward
Dr

ElR
an

ch
o

D r

Lar ita Dr

Arabell e Ln

Warr

en
D

r

Prescott
Rd

Playa
 B

l

Tucker Rd

Ride
r R

idg

e Rd

Alfadel Ln

M
cd

on
al

d Rd

Poplar Av

G
re

e n
Hil ls

Rd

H
iddenVa lle y

R
d

Vi e
nn

aDr

Ferrari

Dr

Ba
ke

r
Rd

A
pto s

View Rd

K
e

rrR
d

Ra
ce

Horse Ln

E
as

t rid
ge

D
r

A l
m

on
d

D r

Me ad
ow

Rd

Vi
c t

or
y

Ln

BearC
reek Canyo

n

R
ed

H ill
Rd

S tetson
Rd

Lee St

Sky v ie w Te

B rackney Rd

Hudso n
Ln

L o n

Rd

R
am

p

Old Ad ob e
R

d

Th
om

ps
on

Rd

El P
ue

blo
Rd

Fa
l l

C
re

ek
Dr

Big TreesPa r k Rd

S
en

da
La d e ra

S k yl a
nd

Rd

M
ck

ee

Rd

Alam
o

Av

Muir D
r

La s
C

ol in a s
D

r

Ram
p

S unset Dr

De
l

Val
le

W
il low

C
reek Dr

Lodge Rd

Tahimik Tr

C onife r Ln

W

Hilton
Dr

Edison Wy

Quigg Wy

N
Escape

Rd

F

e l t on

Quarry Rd

Condit Ln

D usty
Trail R d

Nu
ne

sR
d

Sum
m

it
D

r

Doeg Rd

R
ob

le
s

Dr

Lup in Ln

Green Forest Rd

W
atertank Rd

Cha
rle

s Hill Rd

Debbie Rd

Ra mp

Pin e Cres t Rd

So uth
Skyv ie w

R
d

M
il ky

W
y

Saratoga
TollRd

La

st
Chance

Rd

C
u

esta
D

r

Ra
m

b le R d

Lore Wy

Lo
m

ita
A

v

Wa rdRd

Stapp

Rd

Charlson
R

d

La
ur

el

Rd

Perimeter Rd

Kliewer Ln
Ju

dd

Rd

H
aw

k RidgeLn

D
im

eo
Ln

B lo
og

ell
's

R
d

Ma
r Vis ta C

t

B ell
R d

Ralston R
idg e

Gille tte R
d

Fa
rm

Rd

Ol
d Sand Pit R d

Darm
a

Ridge
Rd

Ro
gg

e 
Ln

O ld Evans R d

H
aw

k Crest Rd

Sunset Beach Rd

Fo
ot

pa
th Tr

E ncino

Dr

Cre sci
R

d

Moo r
e

R
an

c h
Rd

C ougar RockRd

Starr Creek R

d

Travers
Ln

Sun Mountai n

Rd

M
i ddle

Ridg
e

Tr

W
ilderfi eld

Rd

Se
th G rade

Beach Dr

FavreRidgeRd

C
ha

lks
Tr

uc
k

Tr

Co w ar
d

Rd

Ros
alin

d
Dr

Ha ines R
anch

R
d

Katie
L n

C
an

yo
n

Rd

High
Gu

lch
Rd

Shel l Rd

Moonris
e Rd

Pe
sc

ad ero
Rd

Am
ay

a Ridg e
R

d

Tindall
R

a n chRd

Little

BasinTt

Mor
re

ll
R

d

Morrel l
M

ill
R

d

Vanoni Rd

Levee

Levee

B raemoorDr

Q
uai l Ru

n

Glen Canyon
Rd

Soquel Dr
17

th
 A

v

M
or

ris
se

y
Bl

2nd St

So
q u

e l
Sa

n
Jo

se
R

d

Portola Dr

S t a
te

Pa
rk

Dr

Bu
en

a
Vis

ta

Dr

Market St

Airport B
l

Empire
Grade

Bra
nc

ifo
rte

Dr

West 
Riversi

de D
r

Broadway

Green Valley Rd

Valencia Rd

C liff
Dr

Tr
ou

t G
ulc

h
R

d

Mt Hermon
Rd

Pelton Av

Seas cape B l

Day ValleyRd

W est Cliff
Dr

Sc
ot

ts
Va

lle
y D

r

Sum
m

it Rd

30
th

 A
v

West 
Beach Rd

SummitRd

C apitola Rd

S im
s

Rd

East Cliff Dr

Lo
ck

ha
rt

G
ul

ch
Rd

C
or

ra
lit

os
 R

d

Larkin Valley Rd

Harkins Slough Rd

C
al

if o
r n

ia
St

Main St

C
he

rr
yv

al
e

A v

Pa
ul

Sw
ee

t R
d

O
cean

St Ext

C
ha

nt
ic

le
er

Av

Wheelock Rd

Po
r te

rS
t

Sum
ner Av

Q
u

ail

Hollow
Rd

Delaware Av

R
i ver

St

West
Beach

St

Beach St

Pa
rk

A v

Pioneer Rd

No rth
R

od
eo

G
u l

ch
R

d

Felton Empire

Rd

IsbelD
r

O
cean

St

Mission St

BonitaD
r

Rive
rsi

de Dr

C arbone r a Dr

M
a i

nS
t

East 
Beach

 St

Cliff Dr

Holohan Rd

Be
an

Cr
ee

k
Rd

Murray St

Mcla ughli n Dr

Po
rte

rG
ul

ch
R

d

Hazel D
ell R

d

C o nfer
e nc

e Dr

Varni Rd

Alba Rd

Bonny
D

oo
n

Rd

S
u

mmi

t Rd

M ar
M

on
te

Av

Hames Rd

G
le

nw
oo

d
D

r

Jam ison Creek Rd

Lee

Rd

O
pa

l

Cl
iff

Dr

Olive
Spring

Rd

Carlton

Rd

Swanton
Rd

V ale ncia School Rd

China
G

rade

Rd

Loma Prieta Av

Br
ow

ns
Va

l le
y

R
d

ProspectH eights

Seacliff Dr

Freedom Bl

San Andreas
R

d

7t
h 

Av

Ki
ng

St

Br oo kwood
Dr

Rio Del Mar Bl

Ea
st

Za
ya

nt
e

Rd

No
rth

Br
an

ci
fo

rte
Av

East

La
ke

Av

R
edwood

Dr

Soquel Av

Pleasant Val ley
R

d

Ca
the

dr
a l

Dr

G
raham

Hi ll R
d

Th
ur

b e
r L

n

Frederick St

Club
House

Dr

M
ystery

S p ot
Rd

G
ranite

C
re ek

R
d

Amesti Rd

La
ke

vie
w R

d

Front St

Ol

ive Spr
ings

Rd

C
en ter St

Mcgregor Dr

Upper Park
R

d

SmithG
rade

Pine

Fl
at

Rd

Laurel G
len

R
d

White Rd

Sm
i th

R
d

Buzzard
Lagoon Rd

Ki
ng

s
Cr

ee
k

R
d

Highland Wy

Tw
o

Bar R
d

Eureka
Canyon Rd

Loma Prieta Wy

Schulties
Rd

R
edw

ood
L odge Rd

Pole
L in eRd

Cool idge
D

r

0 2.5 5 7.5 100.5 1 1.5 2
Miles

·|}þ1
Soquel Dr

7t
h 

Av

41
st

 A
v

Soquel Av

17
th

 A
v

Port
ola

 D
r

Ea st Clif f Dr

Park Av

Brommer St

M
ai

n 
St

Capitola Rd

Th
ur

be
r L

n

Pa
ul

S
w

ee
t R

d

B rancifo rte

Dr

Porte
r Gulch Rd

Upper Park
Rd

Bay Av

B
rookwood

D
r

C
ap

ito
la

 A
v

Clares St

Mcgregor Dr

North
Rod

eo
G

ul
ch

R
d

So
qu

el
S

an
Jo

se
Rd

C
he

rry
va

le
Av

30
th

 A
v

Frederick St

Po
rte

r S
t

Glen
Canyon

Rd

Murray St

Soquel W
harf Rd

Opal Cliff
Dr

Cliff
Dr

Prospect Heights

Broadway

La
F onda

A vMorrissey Bl

Monterey A
v

Cabrillo Co l le
ge

Dr

Jade St

Lake
Av

Water St

Topaz St

C
apitola R

d Ext

Central Av

C
ha

nt
ic

le
er

 A
v

So
ut

h 
R

od
eo

 G
ul

ch
 R

d

Es p lanade

Seabright Av

S M
orrissey Bl

30
th

 A
v

M
on

te
re

y 
Av17

th
 A

v

Seabright Av

Capitola Rd

East Cliff Dr

C
ha

nt
ic

le
er

 A
v

CITY OF SANTA CRUZ

CITY OF CAPITOLA

t 0 10.25 0.5 0.75
Miles

LIVE OAK AND 
SOQUEL AREA

SEE INSET

2

nggg
sss

CCCrrr
eeeeeee

kkkk

3

DD
rr

RR
eed4

LLLooomm 5

MMMM
aarr

iiooo
nn

AAvvvvA

RRRdddRRRR

6

7

Eaaaa
sssssssssttttttt

ZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZZaaaaaaa
yyyyaaa 8

9
EEEEElllllRRRRR

aaaaaannnnn
c

RRRdddd

10

11

25

26
27

28 29 30 P

31

aarrrrrrrr
kkkkkkkkkkk

DDDDDDDDDDrrrrrrr

ddd

32

33

CC
oox

34

35

CCC
uu

eessttaaa

ssseeee

DDDDDDDrrr

36

AAA

cccaaaaaaaaaapppppppppppeeeep
BBBBBBBB lllll

AAAA

37 WW
aatteerrttaannnkkk

38

BBBrrr
ooowww

nnn

39
LLLnnn oooosssss

RRRRR
ddd40

rrrrraaa
li

41
VVVaaaVV rrrnnniii RRR

BBB

42

AAvvvAA JJJoo
lllloo

DDD

aaa rrrrrk

43

nnn
DD

rrrr

rrrkkkk

12

Av13
14

AvAA

tola Rd

15 16
17

18

th
AvvAA

20
21

24

19

1

22
23

1

Parks and Coastal Access 
Points:

Who provides your 
neighborhood parks?

County Parks

County Beaches or 
Coastal Access Points

Unincorporated County:
County Parks

City Parks

State and City Parks

COUNTY PARKS AND USES

1

1

2

3

4

5 6 7 8
9

11
10 12

13
14

15

16
17

19
18

1

2 Miller Property

Greyhound Rock

10 Santa Cruz Gardens

13 Jose Avenue

16 Simpkins Family Swim Center

28 The Farm

34 Polo Grounds

21 The Hook

19

31

37 Place De Mer

24 Moran Lake

11 Winkle Farm

14 Hestwood

26 Heart of Soquel

17 Felt Street

29 Richard Vessey

35 Hidden Beach

22

20 Floral

32 Aptos Village

38 Aldridge Lane

40

42 Pinto Lake

39 (currently no public access)

41 Freedom Lake

43 Mesa Village

25 Anna Jean Cummings

12

15 Twin Lakes

27 Soquel Lions

33 Valencia Hall

18 Brommer

30 Willowbrook

36 Seascape

23 Pleasure Point

3 Pace Property (Currently no public access)

8 Michael Gray Field
9 Graham Hill Showgrounds

7 Felton Covered Bridge

4 Ben Lomond Park
5 Highlands Park

6 Quail Hollow Ranch

LIVE OAK/UNINCORPORATED 
SANTA CRUZ

SOQUEL

APTOS

WATSONVILLE AND CORRALITOS

SAN LORENZO VALLEY

NORTH COAST

COUNTY COASTAL ACCESS POINTS

1 5 16Greyhound Rock County Park Shore Trail Coastal Access
2 6 17 Hidden Beach County Park
3 7 18Davenport Landing Beach Access Via Palo Alto Beach Access
4 8 19Bonny Doon Beach Access Dolphin and Sumner County Beach

9
10

13

11

14

12

15

NORTH COAST LIVE OAK APTOS
12th Avenue Coastal Access

26th Avenue Coastal Access

36th Avenue Coastal Access
13th Avenue Coastal Access

Moran Lake County Park

38th Avenue Coastal Access
Sunny Cove County Beach

Rockview Overlook Coastal Access

The Hook County Park
Corcoran Lagoon County Beach

Pleasure Point County Park

KEY TO PARK USES
Soccer

Baseball

Volleyball

Basketball

Play Element

Picnic Area

Community Room

Skate Feature

Tennis

Wedding/Events Site

Pickleball

Hiking

Horse Arena

Dog Park

Bike Pump Track

Community Garden

Swimming

Fishing

Disc Golf

51



52



CHAPTER 6: OVERSIGHT AND FUNDING | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION

THE ARTS COMMISSION
-

County General Fund

User Fees (Facilities, User
Fees, Leases, Etc)

Parks-Specific Property
Taxes (CSA 11 + Measure
F)
Developer Fees (Park
Dedication Fees)

Other

PUBLIC OVERSIGHT

-
-

-

CHAPTER 6: 
OVERSIGHT AND 
FUNDING

53



CHAPTER 6: OVERSIGHT AND FUNDING | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

-

-

-

-

DEPARTMENT FUNDING

-

-

OPERATING BUDGET 

54



CHAPTER 6: OVERSIGHT AND FUNDING | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

-

CAPITAL PROJECTS BUDGET
-

Valencia Hall

-

-

-

-

-

-

55



CHAPTER 6: OVERSIGHT AND FUNDING | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN56



CHAPTER 7: KEY CHALLENGES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

DECLINE IN AVAILABLE FUNDING

-

-

-

-

-

LARGE URBANIZED UNINCORPORATED AREAS

-

-

-

CHAPTER 7:  
KEY CHALLENGES

57



CHAPTER 7: KEY CHALLENGES | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

-
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
-

-

 

58



CHAPTER 8: PROJECT APPROACH | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

-

GUIDANCE & OVERSIGHT
-

-

STAFF
MEETINGS

COMMUNITY
OUTREACH

RESEARCH

NEEDS

VISION

VALUES

GOALS

OBJECTIVES

STRATEGIES

COUNTY 
PARKS

STRATEGIC 
PLAN

OUTREACH VISIONING GOAL-SETTING

IMPLEMEN-
TATION

STRATEGY

-
-

-

PART III:  
CREATING THE PLAN

CHAPTER 8:  
PROJECT APPROACH

59



CHAPTER 8: PROJECT APPROACH | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

-

-

-

-

-

-

STAFF INVOLVEMENT

-
-

-

-

-
-

 

60



CHAPTER 8: PROJECT APPROACH | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

STAKEHOLDER OUTREACH/ONLINE SURVEY

-

-

-

 

 
Parks system

 

 

 -

 

 
COMMUNITY MEETINGS

-

61



CHAPTER 8: PROJECT APPROACH | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

-
-

-

-

-

-

Felt Street County Park

62



CHAPTER 9: KEY FINDINGS | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

KEY DEPARTMENT NEEDS
-

-

-

-

-

CHAPTER 9:  
KEY FINDINGS

DEPARTMENT NEEDS
-

 
:

-

 More training and support:

the department to retain skilled employees 

  

-

63



CHAPTER 9: KEY FINDINGS | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

 

 -

-
-

-
-

-

 

 

64



CHAPTER 9: KEY FINDINGS | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

BIG IDEAS
Goals

 -

 
-

 

 

 

 

parks system

 

 

 

CONTEXT
Needs

 

 

 

 -

 -

 
-

 -

 -

 

VISION

 

 

 -

 

 -

 

 -

 

65



CHAPTER 9: KEY FINDINGS | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

COMMUNITY RESPONSE 

-

-

-
-

QUALITY OF PARK EXPERIENCE

the cleanliness

-

VARIETY OF RECREATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES 
AND AMENITIES

-

 

 and other types 

HISTORICAL RESOURCES

-

to 

-

66



CHAPTER 9: KEY FINDINGS | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

ACCESSIBILITY OF PARKS AND PROGRAMS

-
 

universal 
access

ENGAGEMENT OF THE LOCAL COMMUNITY

-

outreach 

-
ularly 

REGIONAL DIFFERENCES

67



CHAPTER 9: KEY FINDINGS | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

 OF PARK EXPERIENCE VARIETY OF RECREATIONAL 
 AND AMENITIES 

-

-

in the parks system

Courts at Brommer County Park in Live Oak

68



CHAPTER 9: KEY FINDINGS | SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN

OF OPEN SPACE AND NATURAL, 
CULTURAL AND HISTORICAL 

RESOURCES 

 OF PARKS AND 
PROGRAMS

 OF THE LOCAL 
COMMUNITY

-

-

parks

Spanish

-

-

-

-

  

Pinto Lake Regional County Park 

-

69



1 

ParkScore® Index for the County of Santa Cruz, California 

    Prepared by the Trust for Public Land 

     November, 2017 

As the leading U.S. organization that works to analyze and determine the value of urban parks, The Trust for Public Land 
has created a methodology to give a general rating of every major U.S. city’s park system through its proprietary program 
called ParkScore®.  

Santa Cruz County has a total population of 274,780 in 2017.1 It is located in the mid-coast of California at the north end 
of the Monterey Bay. The county is 285,522 acres2 making the density a little under 1 person per acre (0.96 people/acre). 
Of that acreage, 51,776 acres, or 18.1%, of Santa Cruz County are publically accessible parks, parkland, or open space. 
The county includes four incorporated municipalities. These are the cities of Capitola, Santa Cruz, Scotts Valley, and 
Watsonville (Table 1).  

Table 1. Incorporated cities of Santa Cruz County and populations 

City Population3 
Capitola 10,180 
Santa Cruz 64,465 
Scotts Valley 11,928 
Watsonville 53,796 

Each of these municipalities operate parks, recreation 
facilities, or open space of their own. In addition, there          
are four special recreation and park districts in 
unincorporated areas that provide different 
combinations of these services (Table 2). These are 
independent of city and county governments and are 
governed by a board of directors.4  

Parkland in the unincorporated part of the county is 
managed by the Santa Cruz County Department of 
Parks, Open Space, and Cultural Services. This 
agency manages significant acreage including 
neighborhood, community, regional, and rural parks, 
as well as coastal access points, trails, and cultural  
and recreational programs.  

1 2016 Forecast Census block groups provided by Esri 
2 U.S. Census Bureau 
3 American Community Survey (ACS), U.S. Census Bureau 
4 “Review of Recreation and Park Districts Services and Spheres of Influence.” Local Agency Formation Commission of Santa Cruz County. March 
2016. Page 2.  

Table 2. Parks, recreation, and open space amenities provided in 
Santa Cruz County 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN
APPENDIX 1

Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan 
Appendix 1 70



2 

Along with parkland belonging to the county, the municipalities, and the special recreation and park districts, there are 
also a number of state lands. Approximately 1,500 acres are managed by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife, 
primarily in ecological reserves focused on conservation and which are not accessible to the public. There are also a 
number of state forests, parks, and beaches, which are accessible and are a treasured part of the county. The Land Trust of 
Santa Cruz County also manages acreage in the county – much of which is not open to the public but some of which is. 

Table 3. Agencies owning or managing publically accessible parkland in Santa Cruz County 

Agency Publically Accessible Acres5 

Boulder Creek Recreation District 3.4 
California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CalFire) 2,861 
California State Parks 44,519 
City of Capitola 39 
City of Santa Cruz 1,753 
City of Scotts Valley 108 
City of Watsonville 190 
La Selva Recreation District 2.4 
Land Trust of Santa Cruz County 551.6 
Mid-Peninsula Regional Open Space District6 n/a 
Opal Cliffs Recreation District .25 
San Lorenzo Valley Water District 180 
Santa Cruz County Department of Parks, Open Space, and Cultural Services 1,388 
Santa Cruz City Water Department 180 

Santa Cruz is the first county that the Trust for Public Land has scored using the ParkScore Index. As such, it is important 
to understand the above profile of the county as compared to the cities scored in ParkScore when considering the 
following analysis. The cities in ParkScore are the 100 most populous cities in the US, so some are operating in a very 
different setting than is Santa Cruz County. Some of the smaller ParkScore cities are similar in population to the county, 
but population density remains a significant difference as well. The median density of ParkScore cities is 5.75 people per 
acre.  

Table 4 compares Santa Cruz County to selected ParkScore cities which are similar to the county in terms of population 
size or density. 

Table 4. Santa Cruz County compared to selected ParkScore cities 

Place Population Land Area 

Population 

Density (people 

per acre of total 

land area) 

Acres of 

Parkland 

Parkland as 

Percent of the 

Land Area 

ParkScore 

2017 

Santa Cruz County 274,780 285,522 0.96 51,776 18% 
Greensboro, NC 261,833 80,970 3.49 7,582 9% 44 
Jersey City, NJ 266,010 9,468 28.69 1,677 18% 56.5 
Henderson, NV 277,102 68,948 4.11 9,173 13% 61 
Toledo, OH 278,254 51,643 5.41 3,128 6% 45 
Anchorage, AK 305,446 1,090,997 0.28 914,138 84% 61.5 

5 Many of these agencies own and/or manage far more acreage than is denoted here. This table only reflects that which is publically 
accessible. 
6The Mid-Peninsula Regional Open Space District encompasses 1,047 acres, but this mostly serves populations outside of Santa Cruz 
County. Only 4 acres fall within county limits. For this reason the District and associated land was not included in the analysis.  

Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan 
Appendix 1 71



3 

ParkScore® Scoring Index 

Cities can earn a maximum ParkScore of 100. For easy comparison and at-a-glance assessment, each city is also given a 
rating of one to five park benches. One bench means the park system needs major improvement, while five benches means 
the park system is outstanding. In evaluating park systems, we consider land owned by regional, state, and federal 
agencies within the 100 most populous U.S. cities—including schoolyards formally open to the public and greenways that 
function as parks. The analysis is based on three important characteristics of an effective park system: acreage, facilities 
and investment, and access. 

Acreage 

ParkScore awards each city points for acreage based on two equally weighted measures: median park size and parkland as 
a percentage of city area. Factoring park acreage into each city’s ParkScore helps account for the importance of larger 
“destination parks” that serve many users who live farther than ten minutes’ walking distance. 

Investment and Amenities 

ParkScore awards each city points for investment and amenities based on two equally weighted measures: total spending 
per resident and an average of per-capita provision of four key park amenities - basketball hoops, dog parks, playgrounds, 
and recreation and senior centers. 

 Spending per resident is calculated from a three-year average (FY 2014/2015, FY 2015/2016, and FY 2016/2017,
depending on a city’s fiscal calendar) to minimize the effect of annual fluctuations. Spending figures include
capital and operational spending by all agencies that own parkland within the city limits, including federal, state,
and regional agencies.

 Amenities were chosen because of the breadth of users served, the ubiquity of these amenity types, and the ease of
accurate counting of these measures.

Access 

ParkScore awards each city points for access based on the percentage of the population living within a ten-minute (half-
mile) walk of a public park. The half-mile is defined as entirely within the public road network and uninterrupted by 
physical barriers such as highways, train tracks, and rivers.  

Scoring 

The scoring system recognizes the accomplishments of cities that have made significant investments in their parks without 
holding dissimilar cities to an unrealistic standard. It enables detailed analysis and allows cities to increase their ParkScore 
through incremental improvements to different aspects of their park systems. 

To determine a city’s ParkScore, we assign points in three categories: acreage, investment and amenities, and access. 
 Acreage: 20 points for median park size, and 20 points for park acres as a percentage of city area
 Investment and Amenities: 20 points for spending per resident and 20 points for the average of the four key

amenity scores (basketball hoops, dog parks, playgrounds, and recreation and senior centers)
 Access: 40 points for percentage of the population living within a walkable half-mile, ten-minute walk of a public

park

Points for each statistic are assigned by breaking the data range established by our national sample into 20 brackets (with 
the exception of Access, which has 40 brackets), with the lowest bracket receiving the least points and the highest bracket 
receiving the most points. Each city’s total points—out of a maximum of 120—are then normalized to a ParkScore of up 
to 100. 

Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan 
Appendix 1 72



4 

Outliers 

To prevent outliers from skewing the results, the top bracket for each measure includes all values equal to more than 
double the median of the data range. For example, spending per resident in our 100-city national sample ranges from $21 
to $279, with a median of $80. To control distortion from local anomalies, all cities that spend more than double the 
median value (i.e., $160 per resident) are assigned to the highest bracket and receive 20 points. With the top bracket thus 
defined, the parameters for the remaining brackets are established so that each bracket comprises an equal portion of the 
remaining data range. This protocol applies to all categories except access, which has no outliers. 

Mapping 

To map access to parks and open space, ParkScore first identifies gaps in park availability, and then determines which 
gaps represent the most urgent need for parkland. 
Access gaps are based on a service area representing a ten-minute walk. To map park need, we combined three differently 
weighted demographic profiles: 

 Population density – weighted at 50%
 Density of children age 19 and younger – weighted at 25%
 Density of individuals in households with income less than 75% of city median income – weighted at 25%

Each city’s park need is mapped from data collected in the 2016 Forecast Census block groups provided by Esri. 

Analysis of the ParkScore for the County of Santa Cruz and Municipalities  
City of Capitola 
The City of Capitola receives a score of 76, in a tie with the City of Santa Cruz for the highest scoring municipality. 
Capitola’s parks are mostly small, but make up a not insignificant percentage (18%) of the city. Among this acreage is 
160 acres at New Brighton State Beach. The city’s parks are accessible within a 10-minute walk for 89% of the 
population. The city spends $151 per resident on its parks and recreation offerings, even higher than the county. The 
population is quite well served in terms of recreational amenities, with the lowest score in this area being for basketball 
hoops.  

City of Santa Cruz 
The City of Santa Cruz ties with Capitola in scoring 76 points. The city has small parks at a median of 2.3 acres, but a 
quarter of the city (25%) is parkland. This is echoed in the impressive 94% of residents who live within a 10-minute walk 
to a park. Some of this acreage (201 acres) is state parkland. The city also spends the most on its parks out of all the 
municipalities, at $164 per person. This is due in part to spending by California at the state parks of Seabright/Twin 
Lakes, Natural Bridges State Beach, and Lighthouse Field which fall within the city. The city has mid-range scores for 
amenities, with very low points for basketball hoops balanced out by full marks for 6 dog parks.  

City of Scotts Valley 
The City of Scotts Valley receives a score of 56. Scotts Valley has fairly large parks, with a median park size of almost 10 
acres. Lodato Open Space (46 acres) and Skypark (32 acres) bring this score up. However the city’s park offerings are 
concentrated in these large chunks; only about 4% of the city’s land area is parkland and less than half (47%) of Scotts 
Valley residents can walk to a park within 10 minutes. The city invests well in its parks though, spending $140 per 
resident, and also scores very well in recreational amenities.  

City of Watsonville 
The City of Watsonville scores 51.5 due to a combination of factors including low spending. The city spends $50 per 
resident on parks and recreation, less than half of what each of the other municipalities and the county as a whole spend 
per resident. However, Watsonville has a significant 88% of its residents within a 10-minute walk of a park. The city also 

Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan 
Appendix 1 73



5 

receives high scores for its recreational offerings, outscoring all other municipalities and the county in nearly every 
category besides dog parks (though it still receives 19 out of 20 possible points here).   

Santa Cruz County – Unincorporated 
In addition to scoring each individual incorporated place in Santa Cruz County, the unincorporated portion of the county 
was also scored (and the county was ultimately scored as a whole, below). The unincorporated county receives a score of 
48.5, and 2.5 park benches. It has a range of park sizes resulting in a median park size of 4.3 acres, and is 18% parkland. 
Much of this parkland is managed by the county, but also includes some large state parks and some preserves run by the 
Land Trust of Santa Cruz County. In the unincorporated portion of the county, 44% of residents are within a 10-minute 
walk to a park. While low, this is still fairly good considering the population density of 0.5 people per acre. Spending on 
parks in the unincorporated places is $92 per resident, and people living in these areas are fairly well served by 
recreational amenities.  

Analysis was also done to examine the rural versus the urban unincorporated areas of the county, to take into account the 
differences in density and walkability in the more heavily developed areas around the municipalities and the rest of the 
county. In rural unincorporated areas, only 25% of the population is within a 10-minute walk to a park. In urban 
unincorporated areas, this access is 76%. This variance should be taken into account when considering specific areas, 
though the overall score for the county (below) provides a useful sense of the parks and recreation offerings for county 
residents overall. 

Santa Cruz County - Countywide 
Santa Cruz County was also scored as a whole, including all the above incorporated places as well as the unincorporated 
areas. These scores include all parklands, spending, and amenities pertaining to all parks agencies that own or manage 
public land within the county. This portrays how well the county as a whole is serving its residents in terms of parks and 
recreation, as well as allowing specific municipalities to be considered on an individual basis. 

With a score of 57.5, Santa Cruz County as a whole scores slightly above the national median (51) according to the 2017 
ParkScore Index. The county’s median park size is fairly low (2.5 acres), reflecting that a lot of the parks in the county are 
small, ranging from pocket parks to neighborhood parks. However, the county is 18% parkland, double the national 
median of 9%. This reflects the large state parks and other preserves and open spaces available to residents which are 
partially a product of California’s Open Space Easement Act.  

Interestingly, 65% of people living in Santa Cruz County as a whole are within a ten minute walk to a park. This is in line 
with the national median score of 66%. Despite the obvious differences between Santa Cruz County and the large, dense 
cities in ParkScore, the county has about the same access to parks as many of the largest cities, and in fact does better than 
many as well.  

The county is making significant investments in its parks and recreation; at $105 per resident it is above the national 
median of $80. Additional state dollars are contributed within the county, as well as the spending by the Santa Cruz 
County Department of Parks, Open Space, and Cultural Services and that of each individual incorporated area. The county 
has mid-range scores for amenities. A full 20 points are awarded for dog parks, and indeed dog parks seem to be a popular 
(or at least common) amenity in both the county as a whole as well as in all municipalities, all of which received full and 
nearly full (19) points.  

Comparison 

Santa Cruz County indicated some cities in California to compare their ParkScore against (Table 5). A detailed table of 
each city’s score can be found at parkscore.tpl.org.  

Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan 
Appendix 1 74

http://www.parkscore.tpl.org/


6 

Table 5. Selected California cities from the 2017 ParkScore Index, chosen by Santa Cruz County for comparison. 

The county’s median park size is lower than that of most of the selected cities, with the exception of densely packed San 
Francisco (median park size: 1.6 acres). However, it does better than most in terms of parkland as percent of city area, 
with only San Francisco (20%) and San Diego (23%) scoring higher.  

The county’s parks are less accessible than most of the cities, partially because of its low density. It does score higher than 
Los Angeles (54%) and Fresno (61%) in terms of percent of the population that lives within a 10 minute walk to a park.  

Most of the cities spend more on their parks per resident than the county does, again with only Los Angeles ($85) and 
Fresno ($38) spending less. With an average of 13 points in the overall amenities category, Santa Cruz County does better 
than most of the selected cities in terms of recreational offerings, with only Sacramento (14 points out of 20) scoring 
better.  

Conclusion 

Santa Cruz County scores in the middle of the selected California cities, and slightly above average compared to the 
national medians in ParkScore. The county does quite well in comparison to many more dense and more urban places, and 
offers its residents a lot in terms of parks, recreation, and open space. Many small parks bring the county’s score down, 
though this is balanced out by the high points in the Parkland as Percent of City Area category. The county could also 
increase investment in its parks; while the residents of the county are fairly well-served in terms of recreational offerings, 
the county spends slightly less per capita than its California neighbors, suggesting that an increase in moneys directed 
toward parks and recreation would be beneficial. The county can also increase park access for residents through strategic 
placement of new parks and improving access to existing ones in order to improve the park system. GIS analysis revealed 
areas in and around Watsonville and Capitola that are particularly high need in terms of access to parkland (indicated in 
red in the accompanying mapping analysis). These places, as well as those in darker orange in the unincorporated areas, 
can be used to inform future park planning efforts.  

City ParkScore 2017 Ranking ParkScore 2017 Score ParkScore 2017 Park Benches 
San Francisco 3 80 5.0 
San Diego 14 69 4.0 
Sacramento 21 63.5 3.5 
Oakland 24 62.5 3.5 
San Jose 24 62.5 3.5 
Los Angeles 74 41.5 2.0 
Fresno 90 33.5 1.5 

Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan 
Appendix 1 75



Investment & Amenities

City
Data 

(Acres) Points/20 Data Points/20 Data Points/40  Data Points/20 Data Points/20 Data Points/20 Data Points/20 Data Points/ 20

Amenities 

Points/20 Total Points/100

Park 

Benches City

Capitola 2.7 5 18% 19 89% 35 $151 18 2.0 6 9.8 20 2.9 11 2.0 20 14 76.0 4.5 Capitola

Santa Cruz City 2.3 4 25% 20 94% 37 $164 20 0.9 2 9.3 20 3.3 12 0.6 7 10 76.0 4.5 Santa Cruz City

Scotts Valley 9.8 19 4% 3 47% 11 $140 17 3.4 12 8.4 20 4.2 16 1.7 20 17 56.0 3.0 Scotts Valley

Watsonville 1.4 2 5% 4 88% 34 $50 4 5.2 19 1.9 19 3.5 13 2.6 20 18 51.5 2.5 Watsonville

Santa Cruz County - 

Unincorporated 4.3 8 18% 19 44% 10 $92 10 1.2 3 3.7 20 2.5 9 0.9 11 11 48.5 2.5

Santa Cruz County - 

Unincorporated

Santa Cruz County - 

Countywide 2.5 4 18% 19 65% 21 $105 12 2.0 6 5.1 20 2.9 11 1.2 15 13 57.5 3.0 Santa Cruz County

3 San Francisco 1.6 3 20% 20 100% 40 $235 20 3.8 13 3.8 20 2.4 8 0.8 10 13 80.0 5.0 San Francisco

14 San Diego 5.7 11 23% 20 77% 28 $120 14 2.8 9 1.2 11 1.9 6 1.0 12 10 69.0 4.0 San Diego

21 Sacramento 5.5 11 8% 8 79% 29 $122 14 2.7 9 2.3 20 4.0 16 1.0 12 14 63.5 3.5 Sacramento

24 Oakland 2.5 4 12% 12 85% 32 $145 17 2.6 9 1.0 9 1.8 6 1.3 15 10 62.5 3.5 Oakland

24 San Jose 3.2 6 14% 15 75% 27 $147 18 1.6 4 1.0 9 2.7 10 1.1 13 9 62.5 3.5 San Jose

74 Los Angeles 4.8 9 13% 13 54% 15 $85 9 0.8 1 0.3 1 1.1 2 1.1 13 4 41.5 2.0 Los Angeles

90 Fresno 3.6 7 4% 3 61% 19 $38 3 3.6 13 1.2 12 1.5 4 0.3 4 8 33.5 1.5 Fresno

National Median 5.0 9 9.3% 9 66% 22 $80 9 2.6 9 0.9 8 2.4 8 0.8 10 10 51.0 2.5 National Median

National Maximum 16.6 84.2% 100% $279 10.2 7.2 7.4 2.9 19 87.5 5.0 National Maximum

National Minimum 0.6 1.5% 27% $21 0.7 0.0 0.7 0.1 2 28.5 1.0 National Minimum

Scores are calculated based on the Trust for Public Land's 2017 ParkScore Index. 

Santa Cruz County ParkScore® Index

Basketball Hoops 

per 10,000 

Residents

Dog Parks per 

100,000 Residents

Acreage Access

Playgrounds per 

10,000 Residents

Percent of Residents 

within a 10-Minute 

Walk to Park 

Spending per 

Resident

Recreation & Senior 

Centers per 20,000 

Residents

Amenities 

Average

Amenities

Median Park Size

Parkland as 

Percent of City 

Area

Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan 
Appendix 1 76



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan 
Appendix 1 77



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 1 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY PARKS STRATEGIC PLAN 
APPENDIX 2 

OUTREACH MATERIALS AND SUMMARY 
 

HOW NEEDS HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED 

In order to identify the community and internal needs of the County Parks Department, staff conducted an internal 
assessment, a community outreach process, and reviewed findings from other relevant documents and plans.  
 
Close to all of our permanent staff and approximately 1,000 members of the public participated in some way in the 
Strategic Planning process - through attending meetings, giving input to our draft, or filling out the online survey. All 
public input generated was compiled into a document and the data were used to generate our Values, Vision, and 
Strategic Priorities, Goals, and Objectives in the County Parks Strategic Plan. The processes for the internal assessment, 
community outreach, and review of other data are represented in the following three tables. 
 
Table 1: Internal Assessment 

Internal Assessment & Review 

Strategic 
Planning 
Project Team 

The core team included the Parks Director, 
the Administrative Services Manager, and the 
two project leads. This team designed the 
process, tracked progress, and led the 
Strategic Plan Process. 

Additional staff assisted with the public 
meetings, the layout of the plan, translation 
into Spanish, etc. 

 Met monthly 

 Encouraged cross-collaboration and whole 
department engagement 

 Achieved the goal of this Strategic Plan only with 
the help of the entire County Parks team 

Staff Strategic 
Planning 
Meetings 
 

A majority of permanent staff and many extra 
help staff across all five sections were 
included. 

Gathered priorities and ideas for how the 
Department could improve and continue to 
evolve to meet various needs in the 
community. 

 A series of three staff meetings held in 
December 2016 and January, 2017  

 A well-attended follow-up ‘All-Staff’ meeting 
held in August, 2017 

 Informal one-on-one and small meetings 

 Supervisory staff input at a number of bi-weekly 
management meetings 

 50-60 members of the parks staff participated in 
this strategic planning process 

Strategic Plan 
Working Group 
 

The Working Group was an advisory group 
composed of 10 members representing a 
variety of perspectives and interests. 

Met periodically throughout the process to 
give input, to assist with public outreach, to 
assess what we heard from the community, 
to review data, and to give input to the draft 
plan. 

 Representation from both Watsonville & north 
county  

 Representatives from the Parks and Arts 
Commissions 

 Boulder Creek Recreation District, and the County 
were also represented  

 Note: See Acknowledgements section of the 
Strategic Plan for a list of members 

Parks 
Commission 

The County’s Parks and Recreation 
Commission is an advisory committee to the 
County’s Board of Supervisors. Meetings are 
open to the public. 

Staff presented contents of the Strategic Plan 
to the Parks Commission throughout the 
process 

 Progress reports were included in the agenda 
packet for commissioners, and available to the 
general public 

 Members of the public as well as commissioners 
gave input to Strategic Plan materials periodically 
at these Parks Commission meetings. 

78



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 2 

Table 2: External Assessment 

External Assessment & Community Outreach 

Stakeholder 
Outreach 

Over 200 key stakeholders from various 
community groups were personally invited by 
Parks staff and Working Group members to give 
input into the Strategic Plan. 

Stakeholders were invited to participate through 
attending one of the public meetings and/or 
filling out the online survey. We also encouraged 
them to alert their membership to do the same.  

 Stakeholders reached included community 
groups, advocacy organizations, partnering 
agencies, park user groups, and business and 
civic organizations 

 Invitations included a link to the online survey 
and information about the public meetings 

 Outreach materials were provided in both 
English and Spanish 

Board of 
Supervisors 
and County 
Administrative 
Office 

Each County Supervisor was invited to share 
thoughts on core issues heard from constituents 
related to the County Parks Department. 

In addition the Parks Department team 
coordinated with the early stages of the Vision 
Santa Cruz County Strategic Planning Process 
and solicited input from the County 
Administrative Office. 

 All 5 supervisors attended the public meeting 
in their district and addressed constituents 

 The County CAO contributed information and 
advice to our Strategic Planning Team 

Website & 
Online Survey 
 

An open online survey was created for anyone 
interested in giving input into the strategic 
planning process, and promoted heavily through 
our networks. (See Stakeholder Outreach 
above.) 

The survey was available in both English and 
Spanish and was open for responses from April 8 
through June 2, 2017 on our Strategic Plan page 
of the Parks website. 

 802 people responded to the survey in detail 
or simply added themselves to our mailing list 

 676 respondents completed meaningful 
portions of the survey 

 Survey responses were completed from all 
parts of the County, as shown in Figure 1   

Note: The survey was not intended to be scientific or 
to statistically represent the county. Since the 
respondents are self-selected and not a random 
sample, the results of the survey do not necessarily 
represent the entire county population. 

Community 
Meetings 
 

A series of five community meetings were held 
to solicit community input on vision and 
priorities for the Department for the Strategic 
Plan. Meetings were held throughout the 
county—in Ben Lomond, Watsonville, 
Davenport, Aptos and Live Oak.   

Meetings were publicized through: 
 individual letters and emails to over 200 

stakeholder groups and their membership 
 Board of Supervisors’ newsletters 
 the County’s and the Parks Department’s 

websites and social media 
 Next Door postings (a community-based 

social network website) 
 the Parks Activity Guide  
 flyers and handbills at parks and community 

bulletins  
 flyers to school districts as feasible 
 a press release - which generated several 

articles in local media 

 Over 190 people attended a meeting 

 Participants were split into four groups for the 
comment period; each group rotated through 
a series of four stations 

 Stations were facilitated by parks staff and 
Working Group members and focused on: 1) 
vision and values, 2) parks and facilities, 3) 
programs and events, and 4) priorities 

 Facilitators asked a series of prompts or lead a 
series of exercises with each small group 

 Meetings included about an hour and fifteen 
minutes for public comment; all comments 
were recorded on a large note pad and 
compiled for this Strategic Plan 

 Some community meeting materials are 
included in the Community Meeting Materials 
section below. 

 Publicity materials were provided in English 
and Spanish. Spanish translation services were 
available at each meeting. 

79



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 3 

Table 3: External Review 

Review of Local Relevant Plans and Documents 

To assess park needs in the county, staff also reviewed summaries of other related outreach efforts in the county in the 
last ten years, including those below: 

Draft City of Santa Cruz Parks Master 
Plan 2030 (2017) 
 

This project included extensive outreach within the City of Santa Cruz about 
park needs for the city parks department, and includes results of two 
statistically valid polls related to parks issues. 

City of Watsonville Trails & Bicycle 
Master Plan (2012) 

This project included community input and identifies needs for trails in the 
southern part of the county. 
 

City of Watsonville Parks and 
Recreation Facilities Master Plan (2009) 

This plan includes a needs assessment for Watsonville parks, recreation, 
and trails, and was developed with extensive community meetings, focus 
groups and surveys. 

Monterey Bay Sanctuary Scenic Trail 
Network Master Plan (2013) 

The Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) 
developed this master plan with community input to guide the 
implementation of the rail trail, which will be an off-street trail from 
Davenport to Watsonville along the Santa Cruz Branch rail line. 

Sustainable Santa Cruz County Plan 
(2014) 

 

The County Planning Department created this plan to describe the vision, 
guiding principles, and strategies that can lead to a more sustainable 
development pattern in Santa Cruz County within the planning area of Live 
Oak, Soquel and Aptos, including policies related to trails and parks in the 
Plan’s policies for open space and the bicycle and pedestrian network. 

Conservation Blueprint (2011) by the 
Land Trust of Santa Cruz County 

This project included extensive countywide outreach related to needs for 
open space and conservation. 

Santa Cruz County Parks, Recreation, 
Agricultural Conservation and Open 
Space Project (2016)  

This ‘Needs Assessment, Revenue Feasibility and Governance’ report was 
presented to the County Board of Supervisors on May 24, 2016. It includes 
an assessment of existing parks, recreation, agriculture and open space in 
the County, a statement of needs related to these topics, an assessment of 
existing and needed revenue, and potential governance structures for 
meeting these needs. Convened by the Santa Cruz County Parks 
Department, this report was created in a cooperative effort with Parks 
Directors from the cities of Watsonville and Santa Cruz, the Santa Cruz 
County Farm Bureau, the Resource Conservation District of Santa Cruz 
County, the Land Trust of Santa Cruz County, and the Sempervirens Fund. 

ParkScore Report (2018) The Trust for Public Land completed an analysis of all of the public park land 
in Santa Cruz County, including City, State, County and other parks.  The 
analysis included benchmarks on amenities, acreage, access and spending 
on parks, and compares the county to comparable areas in California and 
across the country. 

 
 

  

80



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 4 

RESULTS 
The results of each of the community meetings and the online survey can be analyzed in a number of ways.  To look at 
the community response as a whole, the priority ranking exercises from both the survey and meetings are combined and 
discussed as one section below.  Additional findings beyond what is summarized in the Strategic Plan from the online 
survey and from the community meetings are also summarized in separate sections below. 
 

PRIORITY RANKING RESULTS 
Both the survey and the public meetings included an opportunity for participants to rank various topics in order of 
importance or priority to them. Results of the highest-ranking choices in these exercises are shown in Tables 4 through 
6, which includes results from both the online surveys as well as the community meetings. These tables include the 
three choices that were ranked the highest (1), second highest (2) and third highest (3) summarized by each meeting, all 
the meetings combined, the online survey responses, and a combination of the five meetings and the online survey 
responses (overall total). The rankings are calculated through a weighted average of responses, where respondents’ first 
choices are weighted the most, and last choices are weighted the least. 
 
In the “Overall Total” column, meetings with more responses have more weight.  For example, the online survey had 
many more responses than all of the meetings combined, so in the “Overall Total” column, the online survey is weighted 
proportionally more than the public meetings based on the greater number of responses.  The following numbers of 
responses are represented in each category: 

 Ben Lomond Public Meeting: 45 responses 

 Watsonville Public Meeting: 20 responses 

 Davenport Public Meeting: 24 responses 

 Aptos Public Meeting: 24 responses 

 Live Oak Public Meeting: 50 responses 

 Total Public Meetings: 163 responses 

 Online Survey: 616 responses 

 Overall Total: 779 responses 
 
In regards to the existing parks system (see Table 4) improving general maintenance ranked the highest overall.  At the 
public meetings, improving public safety ranked the highest. Improving management and conservation of natural 
resources ranked high in all meetings and in the online survey as well. Integrating public art was consistently ranked 
lower than other options. 
 
In regards to improving the parks system (see Table 5) creating and improving trail connections between parks ranked 
the highest overall. Providing access to County-owned open spaces ranked the highest at the public meetings. Since 
meeting participants learned a lot more about the parks system and had more introduction to the Strategic Plan than 
the online survey respondents did, they may have been more likely to notice open spaces owned by the County that do 
not currently have public access.  Adding new uses to parks, and creating new neighborhood parks were also important 
to a lot of respondents.  Creating new large regional parks consistently ranked lower than other options, indicating a 
perception that there is currently sufficient acreage of large regional open space in public ownership in the county or at 
least that acquiring new large parks is not as high a priority as other things. 
 
In regards to park programming (see Table 6) increasing interpretive programs ranked the highest overall, followed very 
closely by increasing kids’ after-school programs. All possible answers were ranked highly by some respondents, 
indicating that all of the options are important to some types of people. 
 
 
 
 
 

81



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 5 

Table 4: Highest Ranked Responses* to Question “What needs/deserves the most focus in our existing parks?”   
Public Meetings Survey Overall 

 Ben 
Lomond 

Watson-
ville 

Daven-
port 

Aptos 
Live 
Oak 

Mtgs 

Total 
Online 
Survey 

Overall 
Total 

Integrate Art in Public Spaces         

Increase cleanliness       3 3 

Increase Safety 1 1 2 1 3 1   

Increase number of programs and events  3  3 2 3   

Improve Management and conservation of natural 
resources 

2  1 2 1 2 2 2 

Improve general maintenance 3 2 3    1 1 

*Numbers represent summary rankings where 1 is the highest, 2 is the second highest, and 3 is the third highest. Total columns represent a 
weighted average where meetings with more attendees were weighted proportionally more. 

 
Table 5: Highest Ranked Responses* to Question “What’s needed to best serve county residents and visitors?”   

Public Meetings Survey Overall 

 Ben 
Lomond 

Watson-
ville 

Daven-
port 

Aptos 
Live 
Oak 

Mtgs 

Total 
Online 
Survey 

Overall 
Total 

Create More Large Regional Parks         

Add New Uses and Improvements 2 1  2   2 2 

Provide Access to County-Owned Open Spaces 3 2 2 1 3 1 3 3 

Improve and Add Amenities to Beaches and Coastal Access 
Points 

3  1   2   

Create and Improve trail connections between Parks 1   2 2  1 1 

Create Additional Neighborhood Parks  3 3 2 1 3   

*Numbers represent summary rankings where 1 is the highest, 2 is the second highest, and 3 is the third highest. Total columns represent a 
weighted average where meetings with more attendees were weighted proportionally more. 

 
Table 6: Highest Ranked Responses* to Question “What parks programming is most wanted/should be pursued?”  

Public Meetings Survey Overall 

 Ben 
Lomond 

Watson-
ville 

Daven-
port 

Aptos 
Live 
Oak 

Mtgs 

Total 
Online 
Survey 

Overall 
Total 

Increase Kids' After-School Programs   2 3 1 1 2 2 

Increase Summer Programs for Kids and Teens  3     3 3 

Increase Interpretive Programs 2  3  2 2 1 1 

Increase Recreation Programs and trips for Adults and 
Seniors 

3 1  2  3   

Increase Classes  2  1     

Increase Aquatics Programs     3    

Increase Family-Focused Special Events 1  1      

*Numbers represent summary rankings where 1 is the highest, 2 is the second highest, and 3 is the third highest. Total columns represent a 
weighted average where meetings with more attendees were weighted proportionally more. 

 
Overall, people care a lot about improving their parks and programs. While the highest-ranked choices vary by meeting 
versus survey, and by geographic area, the highest ranked choices are sometimes not significantly higher than other 
choices. All of the possible choices were highest priority to some respondents and attendees. The forced ranking 
exercise is useful for respondents to get a sense of a need to prioritize some things over other things, and to have to 
make choices since resources are finite. However, the final summary of the results shows that each of these general 
priorities is important to someone. 
 

82



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 6 

ONLINE SURVEY RESULTS 
The Parks Department created an open online survey for anyone interested in giving input into the strategic planning 
process. The survey had a broad reach as it was easily accessible to people throughout the county. Survey respondents 
also learned about the Parks Department, the parks system and gained more of an understanding of the parks system as 
a whole. Comments and information gathered in the survey were an important contributor to the key findings and 
needs summarized in the Strategic Plan. 
 
The survey was available in both English and Spanish and was open for responses from April 8 through June 2, 2017. In 
that time, 802 people responded to the survey. Some of these respondents only completed the name and email 
sections. 676 respondents completed meaningful portions of the survey. 
 
The survey was not intended to be scientific or to statistically represent the county. Since the respondents are self-
selected and do not represent a random sample, the results of the survey do not necessarily represent the entire county 
population. Staff decided to make the survey available to anyone who wanted to complete it to ensure that there was a 
way for anyone who wanted to participate to do so. Survey responses were completed from all parts of the County, as 
shown in Figure 1.  
 
Figure 1: Survey respondent approximate locations by zip code 

 
Comments from the survey are grouped into five themes as explained in the Community Response section of Chapter 5 
in the Strategic Plan on pages 32-35. Priority ranking results from the survey are discussed in the previous Priority 
Ranking section of this appendix. A complete set of survey responses and comments is available upon request. Some 
additional general findings from the survey include the following: 

 County Parks Brand: Santa Cruz County residents do not have a strong association with county parks as being 

distinct from city parks, state parks, or other parks. When asked to select from a complete list which “county 

park” you use the most, the most common answer (8.7%) was “other,” and respondents listed a state or city 

park. 

 Popular Recreational Activities: County residents value a variety of recreational opportunities in their parks.  

Based on survey responses, walking and going to the beach are the most common activities, but all types of 

recreation listed, plus many types not listed, were important. Figure 2 includes responses about typical activities 

people like to do in the parks. 

 Travel to Parks: Most respondents (61%) typically drive to the parks, but a significant number typically walk 

(22%) and bike (15%). 

7

17

25

36

53

60

66

93

211

222

0 50 100 150 200 250

Summit and Skyline

Davenport

 Capitola

Scotts Valley

Watsonville

Outside County

Aptos

San Lorenzo Valley

Santa Cruz

Live Oak and Soquel

Number of Survey Respondents

83



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 7 

 Opinion of Parks Department: Most respondents have a favorable or very favorable opinion of Santa Cruz 

County Parks (75%), while only 5% have an unfavorable or very unfavorable opinion. 

 

Figure 2: Survey responses to typical activities in county parks 

 
 

COMMUNITY MEETINGS RESULTS 
The community meetings provided opportunities for a broad range of community input. General themes raised at all the 
meetings are summarized in the Community Response section of Chapter 5 in the Strategic Plan on pages 32-35. Priority 
ranking results from the community meetings are discussed in the previous Priority Ranking section. 
 
In addition to the themes common to all five meetings summarized in the Strategic Plan, each region of the County had 
specific issues that were most important to locals. These region-specific themes became evident as they were repeated 
by many participants and stood out as key themes to that community in each of the five meetings.  Region-specific 
themes from these meetings are summarized by geographic area in Table 7. A complete set of public meeting comments 
is available upon request. 
 
  

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Riding a horse

Playing Bocce ball

Using a community garden

Playing pickleball

Fishing

Playing baseball or softball

Playing tennis

Playing basketball

Playing disc golf

Playing soccer

Other

Jogging

Attending an event

Surfing

Using a dog park

Picnicking

Using playgrounds

Swimming

Walking a dog

Riding a bike

Hiking

Going to the beach

Walking

84



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 8 

Table 7: Community Meeting Themes by Area 

Area Prominent Themes from Community Meetings 

San  
Lorenzo 
 Valley 
 

 More trails and trail connections between parks 

 Improvements to access Miller Property 

 Opportunities for dogs and a dog park in SLV 

 Places to mountain bike and a bike pump track in SLV 

 More interpretive programs and features 

Watsonville 
Area 
 

 Additional uses at Pinto Lake such as sports facilities, aquatics, boating, interpretive materials, 
exercise equipment and facilities for youth programming 

 Increase in active youth recreation facilities and youth programming 

 Creation of additional beach access points and improved connections to existing beach access points 
in south county 

 Access to Bert Scott Estate and Freedom Lake 

 More sports facilities 

 A public pool or water feature and aquatics programs accessible to south county 

 Trail connections and coordination with City of Watsonville trail plans 

North  
Coast 
 

 Increased patrol, management and maintenance of north coast county beaches 

 Improved restrooms, parking, trash removal and amenities at all county beaches to accommodate 
increasing visitorship 

 Creating a biking and walking trail along the rail corridor between Davenport and Santa Cruz 

 Coordinated planning with State Parks and more planned and patrolled parking areas for beaches 
along north coast 

 County ownership, management, patrol and access improvements to Davenport main beach 

Aptos 
 

 More local neighborhood parks in Aptos to serve the local population to reduce residents’ need to 
travel to other parts of the County 

 Addition of uses at existing parks (and completion of parks master plans) at undeveloped parks such 
as Polo Grounds, Aptos Village and Seacliff Village 

 More coastal access points and improvements to existing points in Aptos area 

 

 

Live Oak  
and Soquel 
 

 Safety and enforcement of rules on Live Oak beaches 

 More off-leash dog facilities 

 Interpretive signage, facilities and programs at county beaches 

 Improved park infrastructure and amenities at county beaches 

 Improvements to Moran Lake park such as trail improvements and connections, tree safety and 
interpretive signage 

 More active sports facilities such as all-weather fields for soccer, additional pickleball and tennis 
courts, basketball, and other sports facilities 

 More neighborhood parks 

 

  

85



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 9 

ONLINE SURVEY 

The following survey was available through Survey Monkey online in English and Spanish. 

 

86



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 10 

 

87



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 11 

88



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 12 

89



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 13 

90



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 14 

  

91



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 15 

COMMUNITY MEETING MATERIALS 
Community meeting publicity materials and the graphics available at each of the meetings are included in Figures 3 –10. 
 
Figure 3: County Programs, Events and Public Art

 

92



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 16 

Figure 4: County Parks, Facilities, and Coastal Access Points 

  

93



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan | Appendix 2 
Page 17 

Figure 5: Community Meeting Priority Ranking Exercise Boards 
 
 
 
 

94



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan Appendix 2 
Page 18 

Figure 6: Publicity in the Activity Guide (mailed to residents of unincorporated County) 

  
 

 
 

95



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan Appendix 2 
Page 19 

Figure 7: Community Meetings Publicity Flyer 

 
 
 
 

96



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan Appendix 2 
Page 20 

Figure 8: Community Meetings Publicity Flyer (Spanish Version) 

 
 

 

 

97



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan Appendix 2 
Page 21 

Figure 9: Know Your County Parks Department 

 

98



Santa Cruz County Parks Strategic Plan Appendix 2 
Page 22 

Figure 10: Know Your County Parks Department (Spanish Version) 

 

99




